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TON 6 1967

MEMORANDUM

BY THE

o~

Chief Commissioner of British Burma.

-~ =0 Qroo——

From Major General ALBerT FyrcmE, c. 8. 1, Chief Commissioner,. British,
Burma, Agent to His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor General, to .
W. S. SEroN-Karr, Esquire, Secretary to the @overnment of India,
Foreign Department, Foreign (Political) Depaytmen;, dated Rangoon,

Jutie 30th 1869. .. / /. i e ".&/’W/.ﬂ 2ot S s 3

Fhave the honor to submit, to be laid before the Right
Honorable the Viceroy and Governor Gemeral of India in
Council, Major Sladen’s Report of his Expedition to explore.
the old trade routes between South Western China and Bur-
ma vi4 Bhamo, together with its appendices, and ten plans of-
towns and remarkable buildings visited by the expedition,
and two manuscript maps. A report by Mr. Robert Gordon,
C. B. attached as Engineer Officer to the expedition is also
annexed, together with a lithographed map of the routes sur-
veyed by -the party between Bhamo and Momein, drawn up
by Mr. Gordon, and containing information regarding the
country3®yond the latter city angd- in other directions, com-
piled frem all reliable sources that were available. The delay
in the submission of the report is to be regretted, It hasbeen
caused by Major Sladen’s illness since his return to Mandalay,
and the delay in getting Mr. Gordon’s map lithegraphed in
Calcutta. Majer Sladen’s Report reached me on 15th April
last.

2. I have in my several letters to the Government of
India g:ontained in the Appendices) described the progress
of the Expedition from time to time as rgpeorts reac%ed me.
from Major Sladen ; and as the accompanying Repors of Ma~
jor Sladen’s speaks for itself, there is no occasion for my go-
ing into the subject at length, and little more than a hrief
resumé of what 1 have already written is required.

3. There are three principal routes from Bhamo, which,
leavigg the town of that name on the Irrawaddy, run in'a
North* Easterly direction to Talifoo, the present Capital of
Western Yunan, passing oveg.the Kakhyen hills, then through, -
a narrow belt of Shan States, and, joining together at Nantin,
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proceed on to Momein the border town of Yunan, whence by
Yunchan (the centre of the trade in Western Yunan) the
route passes on to Talifoo. Major Sladen succeeded in meach-
ing Momein, and I consider, under the circumstances des-
cribed by him, that he was right in not proceeding beyond
that town.

4. The chief objects for which the expedition was sent,

“wasto discover the cause of the cessation of the trade formerly

existing by these routes, the exact position held by the Ka-
khyens, Shans, and Panthays with reference to that traffic, and
their disposition, or otherwise to resuscitate it ; as elso to
examine .the physical conditions of the routes. All these
have, I gonsider, been satisfactorily obtained. Considerable
delay occurped in the Kakhyen hills, prolonging the period of
absence of the expedition beyond that which was anticipated,
but this is, I think, not t0 be regretted, as it has enabled Ma-
jor Sladen to obtain considerable information regarding the
JKakhyens, who, holdimg the hills, must always form an im-
portant element im any scheme for re-opening the route, and
has given them an opportunity of learning our real intentions,
regarding which they would appear to have been falsely im-
bued by designing persong. Major Sladen throughout the
difficultres he experienced from these people shewed great tact
and command of temper, and wisely chose to wait patieptdy at
Ponsee, despite the disadvantages in some respects of the de-
lay thereby necessitated, until he received a reply to a com-
munication he had, with much judgment, despatched to the
Panthay Governor at Momein, and which, when obtained,
enabled him to advance with all the prestige of the direct
support and encouragement of the Panthay Government, whose
predominance was at once manifested by their rapid occupa-
tion of the route up to the base of the Kakhyen hills, and the
altered tone towards Major Sladen of the Kakhyen and Shan
Chiefs as soon as they became aware of his friendly relations
with the Panthay Government.

5. The trade hy the Bhamo route as late as the year
1855 (the commencement of the rebellion of the Panthanys.
agagnst the Chinese Authorities) was nearly half a million of
pounds Sterling, and all previous history of this line of com-

‘merce with which we are acquainted provesbeyond doubt that

there exists an important field for trade in these localities,
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The kuowledge, too, acquired by the present Mission assures
us that the parties most interested in this commerce desire a
revival of the trade. It is of course useless for the Kakhyens
to hold trade routes through which no trade flows, and they.
are quite alive to this fact. The Shan Chiefs, also—apart
from some local jealousies caused by a wish to secure for
themselves the advantages of having the route through their
individual territories—would gladly see the old interchange
of commodities remewed. The Shans are an enterprizing
race, and the unsatisfactory position they have occupied for the
last few yeaxs, disunited and preyed upon both by Chinese and
Panthays, and all the trade stopped, make them anxious for
any arrangement which would be likely to lead to a more
satisfactory state of affairs, and enable them to develope their
natural industry. It would, doubtless, have been very interest-

ing from some points of view had the party succeeded in reach- ..

ing Talifoo, the Head Quarters of the Panthay Government ;
but it certainly appears that the Panthay Authorities whom
Major Sladen met at Momein were of sufficient importance and
position to render their views and opinions a safe criterion of
the favorable feeling of the Panthay Government towards the
resuscitation of trade.

/6. The Panthay rebellion was no doubt the primary cause
~ of the cessation of trade by the Bhamo routes, but Major
Sladen considers that there is some reason to believe that dur-
ing the last five or six years, or since the comparative consoli-
dation of Mahomedan rule within the Province of Yunan, the
non-resuscition of trade by these routes is due to the King of
Burma, who for political reasons has restricted the trade to a
long overland journey of two months vid Theinnee to Manda-
lay. He states “what Burma has always dreaded ” (from
our occupation of Pegu) “is that British interests would not ”
“ be confined to British possessions, but that contingencies ”
‘ might arise which would give the foreigner the right of ex-”
“tending his influence to Upper Barma, and to a point”
“ above and beyond the limits of the present Burmese Capi- ”
“tal. Such a contingency was always imminent as long as”
“it could be made tﬁemonstrable in any way that Bhamo”
“might again become the natural emporium of a direct”
“ overland trade between Burma and China. The same ob-”
“jection did not held good provided Mandalay could be”
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Government, but this must gradually wear out as it has done
and is doing elsewhere.”” There are now at Ma#dalay many
Burmese who have been to Europe and India. There are of

course great numbers who can compare the state of the Pro-

vince of Pegu under Burmese and under British rule. The
comparative prosperity of the towns and wealth of the pea-
santry, the stimulus given to cultivation and manufactures,
and the great activity of our export and import trade, all
are exercising an influence in favor of the Administration
which has produced such results. The Court previous to the
last Treaty had shown great distrust of, and thwarted, all our
attempts to send an expedition vid Bhamo; as also great
jealousy of English Steamers plying between Rangoon and

Mandalay, but since the ratification of that Treaty—at least

-outwardly—His Majesty the King of Burma seems fully
aware of the advantages that must ensue from a re-establish-
ment of the extitict trade which formerly existed with Burma
in that direction, and as far as our Steam communication
on the Irrawaddy is concerned the Burmese Government
have become accustomed to it, and found from experience its
great advantages.- Before the beginning of 1867 only four
English Steamers with merchandize had ever been up to
Mandalay from Rangoon, but now there is a regular eommu-
nication every ten days to and fro’ by the: vessels of the Irra-
waddy Flotilla Steam Company, and the trade has so rapidly
increased that steps are being taken for very shortly establish-
ing a weekly line of communication. That great obstructions
have been thrown in the way of the present expedition, there
is, however, no doubt, but the King -has shown by his own
acts that he has endeavoured to further the interests of the
expedition to the best of his powers, and that the difficulties
that have been met with have more probably emanated from
the under-hand and crooked proceedings of Burmese Officials
and their satellites, from an apprehension that their perquisites
will cease if foreigners engage in the traffic ; and from the in-
trigues, too, of Chinese merchants and others, beth at Bhamo
and Mandalay, who are naturally indisposed to welecome for-
eign competition in a trade which is now all their own, and
whose opposition to the expedition had been fully anticipated.

8. The Government have sanctioned an Assistant Poli-
tical Agent being stationed at Bhamo; and I hope shortly a
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‘subsidy will be granted to the above mentioned company to
induce them to extend the voyage of their steamers on to
Bhamo. The opén navigation of the Irrawaddy river has
been held in view by the Supreme (Gevernment since 1862,
and the Treaties of that year and of 1867 will be largely in-
operasive if the Government do not take every opportunity of
ushing on the commercial policy which promises so muoch
goth for the King’s Territories and for British Burma. Ifwe
aim at binding up the interests of the two countries by the
free interchange of commodities, and by the impetus thus
given to the producing power of the territories, rather than
by Political compacts, which from the constitution of the Bur-
mese Court cannot have, at least for a far distant period, that
complete and substantial security which attaches to Treaties
- with European Powers, we should use our best endeavours
rapidly to extend trade with Upper Burma, and especially in
the shape which will appeal most forcibly to a comparatively
backward nationality. - Our trade with Burma Proper is al-
ready two and a half millions Sterling—what need to hesitate
in adopting the most liberal view of any scheme which will
develope trade that has doubled in four years? The vast po-
litical 1mportance of all meas of rapid locomotion is now prac-
tically conceded. They break down prejudices ; they create
new wants ; they quic{en and liberahae the national opinion ;
they lead to a peaceful rather than a warlike phase of thought ;
and all these useful objects are pracisely what we should desire
40 see having effect in Upper Burma.

9. The Expedition having only reached the frontier town
of Momein, Major Sladen has been precluded fromspeaking with
any authority regarding the tmde statistics of Yunan, and I
think he has acted wisely in refraining from any attempt to do
s0. The great mineral wealth of the comntry is, however, known,
as also the enormous wealth of the neighbouring provinces of
Sechuen and Kwei-chow the most populous in China, and their -
gigantic trade in tea, silk, rhubarlly tobacco, sugar, hemp, oil,

- varnish and other commodities,and that vast capacity ofall those
Provinces to comsume European manufactures, a large propor-
tion of the whole of which trade we shall gain when once the
route by Bhamo is fully re-opened. Mr. T. T. Cooper in his late
endeavour to traverse the through route from China vid Thibet
to India, in a letter to North China Darly News from a place
named Tai-Tsian-loo on the extreme Western frontier of China,
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fully corroborates the importance I have attached to the re-
suscitation of the trade by Bhamo. In it he states that the
“ present trade between Chung-King and Yunan and Kwei- ”
“ chow, is only temporary” (with Hankow) “ on account of ”
 the closure of the Bhamo and Tali route, and assure as this ”
“ route i8 opened, so sure will Burma take to herself the ’
“ trade of these two Provinces, and if, as is probable, British ”
¢ Merchants establish themselvesat Ava” (this hasalready ”
‘“ been done) “then a rivalship for the trade of Sechuen”
“ between China and Burma Merchants seems almost cer- ¥
“ tain, the result telling probably in favor of the latter, both ”
“ in Exports and Imports, Tra,cg; by this route has flourish- ”
“ ed before without European enterprize, and as soon as it is *
“ re-opened, the trade between Hankow and Chung-Caing’,
“ will be lessened one-third.”

10. The good effects of the visit of Major Sladen and
his party should be promptly and vigorously followed up, and
the Assistant Agent ( whose appointment has been sanctioned )

be despatched to Bhamo without delay, to strengthen the belief -

in the reality of our intentions, and to maintain communication
with the Shan Chiefs, and Panthay Government ; and con-
tinue also to influence tiie Khakyens towards giving facilities
for safe transit of goods. I feel certain that on the prompt
action of Government depends a question of the very highest
Imperial importance. Our Seaborne trade with China is be-
ing actively competed for by America. The hot haste with
which the Government of Washington have pushed on the
completion of the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad, and the dom-
inance they have lately advanged in China’s diplomatic rela-
tiong with other Courts—all point to a determination on the
part of America to secure if posible the command of the
Chinese market. The present obstacles of difficult communi-
cation they have solved or are in a fair way of solving, and
the necessity now remains only of adopting their exports to
the Chinese requirements. Will this be possible without
vitally affecting our Commercial superiority? Further will
America long submit to our holding the commanding position
we derive from our Opium Exports, and the hold we thus
have on the Exchange? It is here that the question touches
India in a tender point. The derangement of our Opium Re-
venue means a most serious crisis in Indian Finance, and
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were American interference to affect our Seaborne Opium,
the routes thromgh this Province would become on this ac-
count alone, of the highest importance. In the case of such a
contingency, and for obvious collateral reasons in themselves,
1 consider it highly prudent on Imperial grounds that we
"should be in a position to substitute a Western ingress to
China, for the present Sea-board approach, destined to be dis-
proportionately shared—if not entirely absorbed by America.
I observe, also, that the American Government, not content
- with the Pacific railroad, has Officially recommended to the
Faropean States, the great enterprize of a Ship Canal to be
constructed across the Isthmus of Darien.

11. The Engineer Officer originally attached to the ex-
pedition was Captain J. M. Williams of the Madras Army,
who thought fit to return from Ponsee—or after the expedi-
tion had proceeded a distance of only forty miles from Bhamo.
His conduct in quitting the expedition will be remarked upon
hereafter. His report on the Northern route as far as Ponsee
has already been submitted to Government with my letter
No. 39-37 dated July 10th 1868, It contains a very meagre
report on a portion only of one route, and any importance
. which it might have possessed has leen nullified by the ac-
“ " companying report of Mr. Robert Gordon c.x., Executive En-
gineer of the Upper Peguand Arakan roads, an Officer of well-
known active habits, and great-personal energy, to whom, im-
mediately on information reaching me from Mandalay of Cap-
tain Williams’ abondonment of the expedition, I telegraphed
to proceed as rapidly as possible to Bhamo and follow the
track of Major Sladen’s party., Every assistance was given
by the Burmese Government (whom I addressed on the gub-
ject) to facilitate Mr. Gordon’s advance, and he came up, in an
extraordinarily short period, with Major Sladen at Muangla
or Maingla on the return of the expedition from Momein. His
report is suceinct and clear, and is as full as can be expected
under the circumstances; his journey being a hurried one
throghout, did not admit of careful surveys being made. Had
Capt. Williams remained with the expedition his opportunities
would have been far greater, and during the stay of the party
at Momein (which Mr. Gordon did not reach) he would have
had the advantage of making full- enquiries regaiding the
through routes from Momein to Talifoo, Eastward to China
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Proper ; as well as Westward to India:—as also regarding any
Fast and West routes from China to India to the North of
Talifoo, and which, according to the written instructions issued
to him formed one of his principal duties, apart from the report
on the physical condition of the routes actually traversed by
the party.

"12. Mr. Gordon explains in his report that between
Bhamo and Momein lies a range of hills lying in a North and
South direction, and forming a spur from the Himalayan
range of mountains. Bhamo is on the West of the spur and
Momein on the East. In travelling between the two places
it is obligatory to cross this range, which is pierced by three
valleys through which traffic has been conducted between the
two towns. The Northern, Sanda valley, or Ponlyne route
is formed by the Taping river, a tributary of the Irrawaddy,
into which it flows a few miles above Bhamo, the general di-
rection of the rivers being from North East to South West.
On its North side it is bounded by high hills, and on the
South by the Shamaloung range, which separates it from the
centre valley. The Centre, Hotha valley, or Embassy route
is formed by the Namsa river, a tributary of the Taping, into
which it flows at a point about forty five miles East of Bha-
mo. Its Northern boundary is the Southern boundary of
the Sanda Valley, and its Southern boundary is a spur of hill
from the Shamaloung range, which spur forms also the Nor-
thern boundary of the Muangwan Valley, Southern, or Sa-
wuddy route. Through this last named valley runs the
Nam-wan river, which apparently takes its rise in the Sha-
maloung range. The Southern boundary of this valley is
formed by the Myne-won mountain range. The three rivers
running through the valleys have all one general direction,
that is from North East to South West.

13. Mr. Gordon in the first instance marched from Bha-
mo through the Northern or Sanda Valley as far as Muangla
or Maingla, a distance of ninety i miles from Bhamo. Leaving
Bhamo, he crossed the Taping river near its junction with the
Irrawaddy and kept along its right bank for a distance of
about twenty miles. The road then left the river, the distance
between them varying until the village of Ponlyne was
reached, distant thirty miles. from Bhamo, and about four

miles from the Taping. The elevation reached was 1814 feet,
B

Google

/i



N

being at the rate of a little more than sixty feet per mile from
Bhamo. The next place reached was Ponsee forty miles from
Bhamo and not far from the river, the elevation {amg 2719
feet. - About half way between the two villages the Nam-
phoung streagn, an affluent of the Taping, was crossed, neces-
eitating a descent from Ponlyne of 1241 feet, and an ascent
to Ponsee of 2127 feet. Three miles beyond Ponsee the San-
da Valley commences, and at a distance of eleven miles Man-

‘wyne with an elevation of 1,900 feet was reached. The route

day apparently near the river up to this point and was still on
its right bank. The next place reached was Sanda situate
about six miles North of the Taping river. It stands upon
an affluent bearing its name, and which flows into the Taping
river at a distance of ten miles from the town. The affluent
is crossed close to the town. This town may be presumed to
he the central town of the valley. Its elevation i§ 2912 feet
or about 100 feet above the elevation of Manwyne. Beyond
Sanda and at a distance of about sixteen miles Mu is
reached with an elevation of 2091 feet. Beyond this point,
Mr. Gordon did not go as he was met by Major Sladen re-
turning from Momein. |
14, The general impression derived from Mr. Gordon’s
report on the Sanda Valley is not an uafavorable one. With
the exception of the steep descent and ascent from the Nam-
poung stream between Ponlyne and Ponsee, there seem to be
no difficulties of any magnitude, and what difficulties there
are, appear to be within the first forty miles from Bhameo.
Mr, Gordon points out that by removing the line of road
from its present crossing of the Nampoung stream, the steep
gradients would be avoided by passing over the affluent some
miles higher up.
15. The line of road marched (z‘er by Mr Gordon ap-
rently runs, for the greater part its length, over high
;g):cundy&djoining the Taping river, and after leaving Ponsee
would seem to pass over fairly level ground. He states that
dry weather voads follow each bank, and he would recommend
any new line of road, if narrow, to follow the course of the
river. The length of such a line would possibly be much greater,
and the cost of bridging for the purpose would be heavier than
on the high ground, but then the rise throughout weuld be

gradual.  The relative merits of a line along the foot of the
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hills, and bordering the river, and of a line earricd on the
existing track are not easily determined in the absemce of
more data than are available, though Mr. Gordon seems to
think a road running on the high ground could be constructed
for £1,000 a mile, or between Bhamo and Momein for £90,000,
The cost of a road on the rivers edge would probably be
greater, as much blasting would be necessary, together with
extensive bridging. Perhaps the Government of India from

the experience gained in the construction of the Simla and

Thibet road might be able to approximate to the probable
cost. One advantage of the high level road would be in the

opening out of the country it would lead to, tending to in--

crease cultivation and population. These results would
directly affect the extent of the Merchandize carried along it.
On the whole, I am disposed to think that the advantages are
in favor of the high line road. There seems to be abundance
of material for the bridges and metalling of the road.

16. On his return from Muangla to Bhamo, Mr. Gor-
don came through a pertion of the Hotha valley. He ap-
pears to have marched from the former place back to Man-
wyne and then to have crossed the Shamaloung hills to Ho-
tha, 3749 feet above the town of Bhamo, and 1749 feet above
Manwyne. Between Hotha, which from the map appears
to be about the centre of the valley, and his next halting
place, Namboke, both of which have nearly the same altitude,
the distance is about twelve miles. The exaet character of
the country passed over is not clear from Mr. Gordon’s des-
cription. Between Namboke and the next halting place
Ashan, a distance of about seven miles, the country appears
to be very mountainous. One point of the road was recorded
as 4650 feet above Nantin, which is equivalent to 7218 above
Bhamo. Between Ashan and the Namphong stream, a dis-
tamce of about five or six miles, there is a descent of 958 feet,
and from this there is ne record of the intermediate places
reached until arrival at Hotone, the elevation of which is
2450 feet. This place appears to be in nearly the same pa-
rallel of Longitude with Ponlyne in the Sanda valley, which

is less in elevation by about 600 feet than Hotone. Between -

the Namphong stream and Hotone the grcund is deseribed
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as hilly though easier than the ground over which the usual
journey is made; From Hotone the descent towards the
ping is described as rapid and difficult.

-17. It seems cleat from this description of the portion
of the Hotha Valley marched through, that the advantages
for traffic purpose are all on the side of the Sanda Valley.
The elevations to be crossed in the Hotha Valley far exceed
the elevations met with in the Sanda valley and furthermore
it seems certain that ground higher than that in the vicinity
of Momein would have to be. passed over. The population
also is much less and owing to the rugged nature of the coun-
try is not likely to increase. Mr. Gordon has summed up the
demerits of the Hotha valley route very carefully in the 36th
paragraph of his report, and also as far as can be judged, he
shows fully why this route is not an advisable one.

18. Of the third or Muangwan valley, Mr. Gordon re-
ports but little, and that only on hearsay. I doubt the ex-
pediency of dwelling upon his remarks.

19. The remaining paragraphs of the report are taken
up with the consideration of the country lying between Mo-
mein and Yunchon. The exsting traffic crosses the Salween
river by an iron bridge, which testifies to the commercial
activity that must have formerly prevailed. Even now Mr.
Gordon is able to report that 30,000 mules pass yearly
between the two cities. Of course no engineering opinion can
be formed on the country lying to the Kast of Momein, as
nothing as yet is known regarding it.

20. From Mr. Gordon’s report it appears that he consi-
ders the Northern route along the Sanda valley to be the most
advisable one as far as physical difficulties are concerned, and
that the gentral, Hotha valley, or Embassy route for the pur-
poses of a road constructed on scientific principles, cannot
compete with either the Northern or Southern routes. He
does not speak so confidently of the latter as of the former
route, as he had not the sams opportunities for observing it;
but on the whole he is of opinion “ that a good road with
“ easy gradients can be made without great expense through
either the Sanda or the Muangwan valley. ” No difficulties
greater than are ordinarily met with in constructing hill-roads
exist in the Kakhyen hills, and the country compares favora-
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bly with the Arakan Mountains opposite Prome over which
a twelve foot road has been constructed one hundred miles long,
ninety of which are in the mountains. Mr. Gordon has had
this road under his charge for three years, and can affirm that
in the thirty or forty miles of hilly ground necessary to pass
over to reach the Sanda valley from the plains, there are no
greater difficulties than are met with on the Prome and
Tounghoop road.

21. Major Sladen in his remarks regarding these routes
states that “1t would be immature to puzzle ourselves which ”
“is the most practicable i an engineering point of view, ”
“until we are prepared to entertain a definite scheme of”
“road improvement, or even railroad communication—that ”
“trade to an almost unlimited extent is now possible by ”
‘“any of the present existing routes without reference to”
“ their engineering capabilities, and that the determination of ”
“ either of these three routes as a through-route for gene-”
“ ral traffic must depend for some time to come on questions ”
“ of policy and genera} expedience, rather than of special ”
“ adaptability or Physical disqualification ; ” and prefers the
Hotha valley, Central, or I'mbassy route to the other two
for all present purposes of commerce and communication.

23. From both the reports of Major Sladen and Mr.
; Gordon we gather therefore that the present routes are avail-
" able for traffic by means of Mules as formerly, that between
Bhamo and Momein no physical difficulties of any kind exist
to the construction by one or other of these valleys, of either
a road built on scientific principles for wheeled carriages, of
a tramway, or of a railway ; that the length of such, would
only be 130 miles, or grobably less, and that labor and good
material for road making are available in the country to any
extent that may be required.

24, The vitality of the Bhamo route for traffic which it
maintained for centuries among all the disturbing influences
of the flow and ebb of the Chinese and Burmese power indicated
that, somehow or other, the line in that direction possess-
ed some practical advantages over other through routes,
and induced me to press the subject of its Exploration on the
Government of India. So much however, has been written
regarding the route proposed by by Captain Sprye from

/
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Rangoon to Canton vid Kyang-Hung, that the present papers '
might perhaps be considered incomplete if all mention if it was
omitted.

25. When I proposed the expedition to Bhamo a sur-
vey had just been completed from Rangoon as far as the bor-
ders of our own territory for a line of Railway from Rangoon
to Kyang-Hung, and thence on through the mythical City of
Esmok to Canton. It was with no intention of interfering
with this survey that that proposal was made. My proposition
to re-opentraffic by the Bhamo route with the Provinces of South

! Western China stands upon a different footing altogether,

in fact the two schemes are perfectly distinct. The object

- of the Bhamo expedition is to re-open a temporarily closed
trade by a line of country already known and from which,

if successful, the most advantageous results must at once
flow: whereas the object of the survey is to discover a route
by which a Railway might be constructed, and even if pro-

- nounced feasible and advisable it would take at least a genera-

-ion to complete. I have myself alway® looked an the Kyang-
Hung line as a most Quixotic scheme as a route for trade; but
as the survey of the country from Takau ferry on the Salween
river vid Kyang-Tung on to Kyang-Hung on the Cambodia
river, a distance of about 200 miles, would be of great scien-
tific and poltical value, I would still advocate its continuation
at any rate as far as that city. We have already a fair gene-
ral knowledge of the country from the British Frontier through
the Shan States tributary to Burma up to the Takau ferry
but the tract of country lying between the Salween and Cam-
bodia rivers is unknown, . .
26. When Captain Sprye’s schgme was first proposed
there was something in it both plausible and attractive—to

" connect Rangoon with Canton by a railway running through
" a country with, as it was supposed, no insu}éerable obstacles

ve? naturally commended itself to notice. Canton was then,
and had been for many years, the great centre of foreign’

* trade with China. From that port nearly all the tes, silk,

and other valuable produce was shipped, and there all the
European goods were imported. It was naturally believed
in consequence, that Quangtung and Quangsi were the great
producing and consuming districts of the Empire—but on the
opening of Shanghai to g)reign trade this fallacy was exposed,
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and it was completely dispelled by the opening in 1860-61 of
Hankow and the other ports on the Yangtse river, which
showed that the Foreign trade that had centred in Canton,
had been flowing, not in its natural, but in a forced or artifi-
ctal channel, and that the great bulk of what was shipped
from Canton, was really produced im Sechuen, Kweichow,
and other provinces drained by the Yangtse, and that this
produce had actually been carried up that river in boats, to
a point where it is separated from the Canton river or one
of its affluents, by a steep range of hills, through a pass in
which the produce was carried %y porters down to the South-
ern stream, and from thence to Canton in boats. By the same
route also imports found their way to the place of consump-
tion. So soon as the Yangtse ports were opened all was
changed ; trade began to flow down the Yangtse and nearly
the whole trade of Canton ceased, except what may be con-
sidered its legitimate trade, thatis, exporting the produc-
tions of Quangtung and Quangsi, and the supplying of these
Provinces with European goods. The trade of Canton at
one time sunk so low that it was, I believe, seriously pro-
posed to abandon it altogether as a place of European trade.

27. 1 will now glance rapidly at the bearing which
these facts have upon the routes vid Kyang-Hung and Bha-
mo. First then as regards connecting Rangoon and China
by a railway vid Kyang-Hung and Esmok, the only Chinese
markets of importance that would be reached by such a line

" of railway would be those in the extreme south of Yunan, in !
Quangsi, and Quantung ; but as has been shown, the foreign
trade of the last two named provinces] is comparatively small,
and as they are well known to have already such easy and
cheap communication with Canton, it would be in vain to
hope that commerce could be diverted to what must be a
much more expensive outlet. The Southern portion of Yunan
too is very poor compared with the Central and’North- Western
portion of the province ; and the trade with the Shan States,
also, by this route, would be less than by the Bhamo route,
the States to the Northward being wealthier than those to the

I Southward. Turning now to the route vii Bhamo, Momein,

' and Tali, we find that there is a commercial highway used by

' Burmese and Chinese merchants trom time immemorial, lead-
ying through the richest part of Yunan, and tapping Sechuen
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. and Kweichow which, ashas been said before, are the weal-

N

thiest and most populous provinces in China. Although
Sechuen is bordered by the Yangtse, still the difficulties of
the route towards Chung Ching, the great Central mart on
its banks, are said to be great, and the mouth of the river is
so far distant that the carriage of goods is very costly. The
navigation of the river between Chung Ching and Hankow is
moreover extremely disastrous to trade on account of the total
loss of many Junks and their cargoes in the dangerous
rapids and whirlpools, and besides which, goods passing
through such a great number of separate districts, ( in each of
which heavy taxes are levied,)the cost of the produce is
greatly enhanced before it finally quits the country,and we may
very reasonably suppose with Mr. Cooper that we may share
at least one-third of this vast trade, when the Bhamo route is
fairly re-opened.

28. The desertion at Ponsee by Captain J. M. Wil-
liams of the Expedition has already been alluded t 1
referred to by Major Sladen in pa
491 to 494 of his report. The circumstdgces connecte with
his leaving, and Captain-Williams’ own exglanation have\been
previously communicated o the Governme
Jor Sladen generously takes, the onus of
departure in great part on hi§ own shoulders,
491 fully explains the reasons’why he was anxiodg to get rid
of such an un¥illing and, to sajthe least, lukew coadju-
tor, It appeaks that Captain Williams endeavoured before
tven leaving Bhmo to persuade Major Sladen to give up the
Expedition and rdfurn. - His attempt to explain that it was
from lack of funds that he abandoned the Expedition, and that
he would expedite the progress of the party by so doing, is
not' borh‘e out by facts;or all the difficulties that had hitherto
beset the‘%ixfedition were in a great measure removed previ-

ut paragraph

ous to his ¥eaving by the receipt of a communication from the
Penthay Governor of Momein, guaranteeing carriage, escort,
and all expenses of the party through the Shan States to
Momein ; besides which, on his return, between Bhamo and
Mandalay he met a strong Burmese escort under a confidenti-
al Officer of the King of Burma conveying Rs. 10,000 which
I had despatched from Rangoon for Major Sladen, and if
want of funds was alone the reason, why did he not return
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\Viﬁl this.escort ? and to whom his services, having just tra-
velled over the road by which they would have\ to proceed,
would have been most valuable. Moredver if -a dduction in
the number of the Rarty was obsolutely necessaxy, Major
Sladen—under whose\grders every ong connected With the
Expedition had been diNinctly placed
sent back Lieutenant Boers together
rart, or even t\e Medical Officer
ct regarding the Phcfographic
Sladen was -petty, and his
dth him the Government surveying instrument -
tioned, andNis refusal to send them back, when a special
mes\enger was sent after him for them by Major Sladen, was
most ¥gprehensible.  Captain J. M, Williams has shown him-
self to be altogether unfitted to accompany any expedition of
this description, and his services will doubtless never be avail-
ed ot by the Government again in any such capacity.

29. Dr. J. Anderson, Conservator, India Museu'm,
whose services as Surgeon and Naturalist to the Expedition

were placed at my disposal by the Trustees of the Museum, -

is highly spoken of by Major Sladen. Dr. Anderson has, it
is undetstood, made a large collection of valuable speciinens
of natural history, and of the products and manufactures of
the several localities visited, the whole of which were sent to
Calcutta as 1 was unwilling that his cases of specimens
should be opened at Rangoon, for they might have been in-
jured in repacking ; and the different specimens were not
then arranged. They have, however, no doubt beea all clas-
sified by this time, and 1 would suggest that a complete
series of his collections may be sent me for deposit in the
Phayre Museum at Rangoon. I have not yet received Dr.

~ Anderson’s Official report. On its receipt it will be 1mme-

)

diately despatched to your address.

30. Licutenant Bowers R. N. R. attached to the party
as Comniercial Agent, appears to have been of great assis-
tance to Major Sladen, and his varied knowledge and expe-
rience of special utility to the expedition.

31. Major Sladen himself is deserving of highest com-
mendation for his skillful conduct of the expedition. He has
shown throughout sound judgment and discrimination in his

«
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intercourse with the various Authorities with whom he bhad

to deal, and in the many novel and delicate positions in which

he was placed; and itis owing to his great tact and judg-

ment that the expedition was brought to the successful ter-
_ mination it has been.
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From Captain E. B. StapeN, Political Agent, Mandalay; to Major General A.
FyrcHE, c.8.1.,, Chief Commissioner British Burma, and Agent to His Ex-
cellency the Viceroy and Governor-General, dated 24th February 1869.

I do myself the honor of informing you, with reference to

Captain E. B.Sladon........................l.a.Leader. ﬁ?ur letter N0° 12 M) Of
Captain J. M. Williams ............o00iiuenn L [d

D?PJ oﬂn Ar}lzden:on x.lfg..Medical Officor and Na]t,ltﬂ:l‘;:;. ovember 1 86 /y tha't' the
Captain A. : 3

'1‘.a gtevxvlart, Eosv;‘.am ...»..Mercautile Representatives. explorlng Pa‘rty "VhICh was
F. N. Burn, Esq.

One Native Doctor. One Police Inspector. Fifty ordered tO Proceed under

armed Police. my command vid Bhamo
to the borders of South Western China, commenced its jour-
ney from Mandalay on the 13th January 1868.

2. The narrative of the expedition has already been

LETTERS DATED. told, in a somewhat fragmentary form, in
ind J 1868. ; 1
Bhamo, 2nd Jamary 1065 my several letters (as per margin), private

Do, ortn do 188 and demi-official, which were despatched
Do. 8lst  do 1868,

Do. 2nd February 1368, from time to time as opportunities offered,
Do. 1Lth  do 1868.

Do, sth do 1ms. during our protracted absence beyond
Ponsee 28th April 1863.

Qo 1o Moy g British Territory. I shall endeavour, in

Do. 12th  do 188 the present official Report, to beat out the
whole of the material at my disposal, into the form of a sim-
" ple and consecutive Record, by which to reveal the objects of
the expedition and to trace out its progress and results in the
order they occurred, without any studied attempt at classifica-
tion, and with a seeming disregard, perhaps, of the mere con-

ventional restraints of ordinary official correspondence.

3. It will be necessary too, as the narrative proceeds,
to quote to some extent from my rough diaries ; and in man
laces, I may be led to adopt the diary system altogether.
%ut all matters of a purely evidential or explanatory char-
acter will be submitted in the form of an appendix, so as
to intertere, as little as possible with the consecutive nature
of the report itself.

4. 1 may further state once for all, by way of intro-
duction, that I have carefully abstained from all scientific
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and statisctcal details which did not appear to come within
the scope of my duties or relationship to the expedition.
All such information may be looked forward to with confi-
dence in the Reports of those members of our party to
whom the scientific details of the journey have been happily
entrusted.

5. It has long been a matter of special notoriety to
those acquainted with the affairs of Upper Burma, that its
commercial prosperity has depended, for many generations
past, on the means afforded of prosecuting overland trade with
the Southern and Western Provinces of the Chinese Empire.

6. Most of the Gold that for centuries past has been
lavishly expended in the decorative arts of this country, and
in the adornment of its interminable pagodas; and all the
silk which from time immemorial has helped to feed the
looms of it’s principal industry, found it’s way from China
to Burma by an overland route from Yunan, which struck
the Irrawaddy at the old central mart of Bhamo.

7. In return for this wealth, Burma exported raw
cotton from amongst her indigenous products ; and supplied
woollen cloths and piece goods, imported yet sparingly,
from a British market.

8. But for more than a dozen years past or from a
time which is somewhat remarkably coincident with the
British occupation of Pegu, internalytrade with China had
either entirely ceased, or was proseciited only to an extent
which was 1nappre01able in estimating the wealth, the capabi-
lities, or the requirements of the countries to which that
trade naturally belonged.

9. It is no new theory at the present time, as regards
the origin or design of the present expedition, to have ventured
ypon a solution of causes, which from their very apparency
(1t would seem) have hitherto baffled or deterred every at-
tempt to account for the cessation of trade by the old caravan
route between Bhamo and the Chinese Province of Yunan.

10. Every Merchant who has ever been led to speculate
on establishing himself in Burma, since the British occupation
of Pegu in 1852 , has had his attention keenly fixed for several
years past on vast fields for commercial enterprize in the
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fertile openings of Upper Burma, the Shan States, and Wes-
tern China.

11. But when a substantial scheme had been set on foot
for penetrating this same Western China by a route or railway
which was to be projected from a Rangoon terminus, it be-
came a matter of very significant import to consider whether
the direct route from Rangoon, so energetically advocated
by Captain Sprye, was the route par excellence which was
to be made practicable at any cost.—or whether special means
were not available for arriving at precise data upon which
to justify and consummate the idea of reviving an old over-
land trade route, which had always been recognized as the
natural outlet by which the commerce of China had hitherto
worked a channel for itself into the Provinces of Burma.

12. Hence originated the expedition of 1868; which in-
volving as it did the exploration of unknown Territory lying
within and beyond the Northern confines of Upper Burma,
could only have been prudently undertaken by a party of
British officers, under a full assurance that they ‘enjoyed the
confidence of the Burmese Government, and would profit by
1ts active support in removing the primary difficulties ofa
somewhat hazardous and tentative undertaking.

13. Having concluded a second treaty with the British
Government, the time seemed to have come when the King
of Burma and his Ministers had been led by experience to
renounce for ever the primitive state of exclusiveness by
which they had hitherto hedged in their country and de-
nied themselves the benefits of free commercial intercourse
with neighbouring states. It was, therefore, an opportune
moment for making known the requirements of the British
Government, and of obtaining the consent of the king of
Burma to the despatch of a party of British Officors to ex-
plore the old caravan route between the upper waters of the
Irrawaddy, and the South Western confines of Yunwn. This
consent was given with a cordiality which called forth the
thanks and acknowledgements of his Excellency the Viceroy
and Governor General of India, and aftorded an indubitable

round for belief that that cordiality would be continued,
and that those acknowledgements would not be too lightly
esteemed. '
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14. For several weeks before the expedition left Manda-
lay, the King, the Chief Minister, and other officials of the
Burmese Government, had been repeatedly urged to bear
in mind the great importance of the expedition ; and, at m
special solicitation, written orders were despatched to the Go-
vernor of Bhamo, and to the Heads of the several towns and
villages which lay in our route, to anticipate our arrival and
make provision for several known requirements.

But irrespective of these outward assurances of support,
held out by the officials themselves, other indirect evidence
was not wanting of an apparent desire on the part of the
Burmese Government to place no direct obstacles in the
way of our progress, as long at least as that progress lay
within Burmese Territory.

15. In my several interviews with the King, previous
to my departure for Bhamo, the subject of the approaching
expedition was alway referred to in a way which was in-
tended to convince His Majesty that the eyes of the World
were then directed towards Burma ; and that the ultimate
success of the expedition—depending as it did, in a great
measure on the guaranteed support of the Burmese Govern-
ment——had connected itself very intimately with His
Majesty’s interests, and probably also with the permanence
and] stability of His Majesty’s Dominions,

16. There were times when the King wavered so far
as to yield temporarily to certain jealous influences which
were secretly fomented with the object of proving to him
that he had acted unwisely in giving his consent to a British
expedition which was to penetrate China through Burma,
and produce an objectionable influx of foreign intruders into
Burmese Territory. The King himself made known to me
the existence of this secret opposition, and spoke in particular
of a petition presented by an European resident of Mandalay,
which warned him that if the expedition started and succeed-
cd in its object, a death blow would have been levelled against
Burman supremacy and the perfect independence of His Ma-
jesty’s Government.

17. But, knowing as I did that the king felt his interests
in this undertaking to be bound up with our own, and relying
upon this fact with more confidence than all the other out-
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ward evidences of Royal support and co-operation, 1 had per-
suaded myself into a belief that Burmese opposition, beyond
the ordinary petty restrictions of travel in any half civilized
country, would not have been seriously attempted, so long as
the expedition remained within Burmese limits, or was subject-
ed to Burmese influences.

18. In this, as in other instances of misconception in
our estimate of the facilities attending this expedition, we are
now proved to have erred; and I simply instance this one fact
in particular, at the present stag'e of my narrative, because it
shews, I think, that no provision, however complete, could
have warded off a difficulty which not only defied anticipation,
but grew, as it were, out of what we were bound, in our friend-
ly relations and intercourse with the Burmese Government,
to rely upon as a chief fundamental element of success and
encouragement.

19. It can hardly be wondered at then, that the expe-
dition took its departure from British territory under a very
erroneous idea of coming events, and with a despatch which
would have indicated undue haste and an absence of all effec-
tive preparation, had the realities of the adventure or the po-
litical difficulties which every where encompassed it, been
recognized as conditions or contingencies which had not al-
ready been amply provided against by the cordial assent and
guaranteed patronage of the Burmese Government.

20. In arranging for the despatch of thz expedition from
Mandalay to Bhamo, His Majesty the King of Burma had
volunteered the services of one of his river steamers; and in
spite of much conflicting testimony to the contrary, there was
every prospect of our reaching a starting point on the Irra-
waddy, without any of the delays incidental to boat transit
during a somewhat unfavorable and uncertain period of the
year.

21.  On no former occasion had it been deemed prudent
or advisable to despatch steamers beyond a well defined dis-
tance above the capital at Mandalay. Those whose experience
entitled them to be heard on a matter of so much general
import, openly affirmed, with a great deal of assurance and in-
genuity, that no steamers, then available on the Irrawaddy,
could possibly proceed as far north as Bhamo during the
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months of January, February, or March. Others, whose
opinions were equally entitled to consideration had expressed
themselves in favour of steam traffic on a river which they
declared to be as navigable at all seasons above the capital
as it was between Mandalay and the British frontier.

22. The King, taking advantage of this conflict of opinion,
and being swayed moreover from time to time to a variety
of beliefs which appeared to him to interfere injuriously
with his own interests if he admitted the feasibility of
steamer traffic above the capital, withdrew temporarily from
his engagements, and gave me to understand that he did not
think 1t advisable to risk a royal steamer in thé cause of the
expedition.

23. Neither the King nor his Government could have
been in any real doubt as to the capabilities of the river for
steam navigation, above the capital ; but the policy of the Gov-
ernm3nt has always been jealously opposed tothe spread of
British influence, and nothing it was believed would tend
more directly to extend that influence than the fact that Eng-
lish steamers had passed up beyond the capital, and come into
direct commercial contact with races and people over whom
the Burmese Government had often pleaded its inability to
exercise efficient anthority or control.

24. It bzcame necessary therefore that I should make
known to His Majesty my own belief in the possibility of
reaching Bhamo with a steamer of moderate draft, under skil-
ful superitendence. 1 thought it right moreover to notify my
intention of procuring the service of such a vessel in which I -
hoped to make a successful survey of the River, and prove its
navigability for all practical purpose of trad: as far at least as
the frontier station of Bhamo.

25. This was a contingency little expected. The king
had now worked himself, so to speak, into a political corner
from which there was no retreat. However great may have
been his desire to restrict British Steamers to the lower waters
of the Irrawaddy, it wasan undoubted fact that ther ight of nav-
igating that-river, throughout its whole course, had been al-
ready guaranteed and secured to us by Treaty stipulations
The Government had been led to infer, from my avowed in-
tention of employing a British steamer above the capital, that
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the question had resolved jtself from one of policy into one of
right. No reference was now made to the capabilities of the
river for steam navigation, but the simple point for considera-

tion was—shall a Burman or a British steamer be the first
to reach Bhamo ?

26. The king did not hesitate in selecting what appeared
to him to be the least of two evils; British steamers had not
as yet passed beyond the capital, the policy of exclusiveness
would not be infringed by despatching his own steamer to at-
tempt the passage to Bhamo, on the contrary his doing so
would secure for himself honorable recognition, not only as a
pioneer of trade, but as a Sovereign who had exerted his power
and his resources in furthering the special interest of the Brit-
ish Government.

A royal steamer, the “ Yaynan-Sekia,” better known as
the “ Honesty”, was immediately placed at my disposal ; and al-
though there was some cause of satisfaction in the knowledge
that an important point had thus been secured, I was never-
theless subjected to the unpleasant reflection that my signifi-
cant allusion to the employment of a British steamer above
the Capital had unintentionally reduced His Majesty to the .
neccessity of a somewhat ungracious and conpulsory leancer:~., "~

27. There 1s perhaps an appearance of undue adventure,
in having attempted at the outset of an undertaking, (although
that undertaking had been devised for exploration purposes)
to arrive at the solution of a question, which if unfavourable
would have involved the whole party in a serious complica-
tion of delays and difficulty. But I accepted the king’s steam-
er without hesitation, I knew her draft of water to be only
three feet ; her engines were powerful, and she would be
lightly laden. There was little reason therefore, to attend to
prognostications of evil, which took their rise, no doubt, in a
pure Mandalay conception ; that a king of Burma’s steamer,
could be controlled, under Burman superintendence, into a
means of obstructiveness, irrespective of the uncertainties of
river navigation altogether.

28. The ‘ Honesty,” with the Expedition party on
board, left Mandalay on 13th January, and arrived at Bhamo
on 21st of the same month. Her passage up the river was
signalized by an absence of cvery thing like difficulty, in or-
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dinary river navigation. On one occasion only was it neces-
sary ;to make any serious effort to discover a navigable chan-
nel. A steamer of greater draft than the “ Honesty,” might
at this point have been subjected to prolonged detention, but
though the channel through which the Royal steamer found a
way did not exceed a depth of three feet it was by no means
certain that deeper water might not have been discovered had
search been made with that skill and diligence which would
have guided Europeans, but which could not be looked for in
a slovenly crew of uninterested Burmese.

29. 1t may however be laid down as a general deduction
from our experiences on the Irrawaddy between Mandalay
and Bhamo, that no steamer is justified in attempting the
passage during those months of the year when the water is
at its lowest, whose draft of water exceeds four feet. Captain
Bowers who accompanied the expedition as Mercantile repres-
entative, and whose nautical and professional experiences have
been of great value, has been "at some pains to complete a
chart of the river, which cannot fail to be practically useful to
British steamers as soon as they elect to make Bhamo their
terminus instead of Mandalay. Captain Bowers has promised

" to place his chart at my disposal for the information of Gov-

ernment, and a copy of the same if received in sufficient time
will be appended to this Report.

30. On_22nd January, the day after our arrival at
Bhamo, the two Tsitkais or headmen ofthe town and dis-
trict, paid us a visit on board the steamer. They were courte-
ous but exceedingly reserved as regarded the subject ef the
expedition. They professed an entire ignorance of all orders-
from the capital, which directed that preparation should be -

made for our reception at Bhamo.

31. No expedient could have been more opportunely con-
trived to meet the circumstances of the time, and the natural
proclivity of a Burman in power, with or without reason, to
‘make himself recklessly obstructive in his dealings with
‘Foreigners, than the reality which presented itself in the
recent murder of the old Governor of Bhamo, and the late
Shan disturbances at the town of Momeit. Both events were
unfortunately facts, which had imneliately preceded our own

arrival at Bhamo.
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32. Theold Governor of Bhamo had held also the title
of Governor of Myadoung, an important district south of, and
adjoining the district of Bhamo. The Shan town and district
of Momeit, which had always been under the immediate Gov-
ernment of it’s own Chiefs, was now placed under the Bhamo
Governorship, so far asto give the latter the power of collec-
ting and remitting the annual revenues of the district to
Head Quarters at Mandalay.

- Shans and Kakhyens joined to resist such an innovation
on national rule and custom.. The Governor of Bhamo pro-
ceeded to Momeit with three hundred armed men, and tried
to restore order ; but his force was surrounded by the insur-
gents ; and cut off himself from all his reserves the Gover-
nor was compelled, after several days of helpless endurance,
to attempt to retreat by cutting a way through his implacable
opponents. In this attempt he lost his life, and a large
number of the gallant 300, who had originally accompanied
him from Bhamo, became victims to the hatred which Bur-

man oppression had naturally inspired in the minds of despised
Kakhyens.

33. These were events which had occurred within a
few weeks previous to our arrival at Bhamo ; and it required
a well studied gravity and control of temper, to listen to the
disheartening but plausible and hypocritical utterances of the
Tsitkais, as they dwelt pathetically upon the recent murder of
the Governor, (making it a reason for inattention to instruc-
tions from Mandalay,) and quietly informed me that no eftec-
tive preparations could then be made, for the prosecution of
our journey onward across the Kakhyen Hills towards Yunan.

34. It was not less discouraging to be informed further,
by these officers of the Burmese Government, that the princi-
pal routes eastward across the Kakhyen Hills, were effectu-
ally closed against transit of every kind; or to learn two days
later, after notices had been sent to the Chief Saubwa of the
only supposed practicable line vi4 Ponlyne, that the chiefs
refused to recognize the summons of the Burmese Tsitkais,
and required written orders from the Governor himself, before
they consented to come to Bhamo, or enter into preliminary
engagements relating to our journey across their Hills. The
olga éovernor having been killed, the advent of a new one

2
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depending as it did, on Burmese caprice, became a . matter
of very great uncertainty, and was especially awkward, as
regarded ourselves, whilst assured that the Kakhyens required
the direct orders of a veritable Burmese Governor, before they
could be induced to bestir themselves in our Expeditionary
interest.

35. There was cause also for discouragement in the fact
that, owing to the unsettled state of the country, and the
severe retaliatory measures which Kakhyens and Burmans
were mutually inflicting on each other whenever the oppor-
tunity occurred for doing so, Kakhyens were positively inter-
dicted, by order of the Burmese Authorities, from entering
Bhamo; and that thus the very people whom we had come to
conciliate, and by whose friendly assistance alone it was pos-
sible to carry out the the purposes of the expedition, had been
induced, by our unfortunate connectionship with Burman Of-
ficials, to look upon us as something akin to national or na-
tural enemies.

86. On the 23rd January I returned the official visit of
the two Tsitkais or Magistrates, who were appropriately desig-
nated or distinguished, by the prefix to their official title of
North or South, according to the position and extent of their
respective jurisdictions. It was during one of their visits that
I made the acquaintance of an old Chinaman, who was allowed
by the Burmese Government to exercise special jurisdiction
over his Chinese brethren located in Bhamo.

The officials were kind, and received ¥ with as great .
a display of dignified hospitality as the impromptu nature
of the occasion admitted. But however impressive this may
have been, in one sense, the interviews disclosed with painful
apparency that no effort was being spared by which to dis-
courage, and destroy if possible, by plausible argumentg,

L0 s e

7/évery hope we might already have etertained of succeeding

in the undertaking we were then committed to.

37. The Kakhyens were described as treacherous, and
disinclined to allow transit of any kind across their Hills.
Though nominally subject to Burma, they professed an in-
dependence of their own, and lived principally, it was said, in a
state of indiscriminate conflict amongst themselves, and by
general depredation on the villages or property of their im-
mediate neighbours.
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33: The country beyond the Kakhyen hills, as well as
the whole Chinese frontier in the direction we proposed
travelling, had lapsed into a state of dangerous disorganiza-
tion, and was preyed upon by large bodies of marauders, who
having first succumbed, during a state of anarchy, to being
despoiled themselves, were now compelled in turn to seek
retaliation and livelihood by a reckless spoliation of others.
The Head Chinaman asked repeatedly with bjtter significance
“How do you expect to succeed when kings even have tried
and failed ¥’

39. But in the midst of many vexatious and discourag-
ing statements, which were suggestive of every thing evil
if we attempted to advance, the Tsitkais, when directly urged
to action, were careful for their own sakes to make certain
vague promises of assistance, which results have proved it
was never their will or intention to fulfil. On them how-
ever depended for a time my only means of settling certain
preliminaries, which were indispensible before a single step
could be taken in prosecuting the journey beyond Bhamo.

References to Mandalay were virtually forbidden on ac-
count of the delay which would have been involved in making
them. The Tsitkais were on the spot, and it was necessary
to keep up a friendly bearing and mtercourse with them, in
spite of all that was harassing and disagreeable in their secret
opposition and forced reserve.

. 40. A point of primary and essential importance, as
connected with my instructions, related to the possibility of
effecting a safe and liberal understanding with the Kakhyen
Chiefs, who occupied the mountain route through which the
expedition would pass, whilst yet within what is nominally
termed “ Burmese Territory.”

41. I have already stated that the Chiefs on the Pon-
lyne route, to which we had been committed by the advice of
the Burmese officials at Bhamo, had refused to attend to or-
ders which were not transmitted to them by the Governor
himself. The written instructions of the Tsitkais had been
forwarded by their own Burmese messengers, and I also des-
patched, along with them, a half Chinese half Burman
scribe, (Moung Shwe Yah) who had journeyed to Momein more
than once, and whose services had been given over to me by
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the king, as a man who was to prove eminently useful on ac-
count of his local and varied experiences.

42. I desired Moung Shw? Yah to mention privately to
the Kakhyen Saubwas the true reasons which made me long
for their acquaintance and friendship. On the 29th January
he had returned from his mission to Ponlyne, (the head quar-
ters of the Kakhyen chief of that name) and brought word
that although the Saubwa had declared he would not attend
to Burmese orders, he was willing nevertheless to visit me
privately, if a meeting could be arranged without Burmese
interference, '

43. The fact was, I afterwards learned, that these same
Burmese officials, (although they had gone through the form
of despatching written orders to the chiefs, to-come and confer
with me at Bhamo,) had indirectly expressed, through their
own private messengers, that the presence of the chiefs was
not really desired: on the contrary, a ready means had been
actually improvised for these chiefs, whereby to excuse and
even justify their absence.

44, But although the chiefs had promised in anticipa-
tion to award me a private interview, it was necessary, they
paid; to hold a consultation with the nats or minor deities,
who rule over the destinies of Kakhyen land, and obtain
their previous sanction to the proposed interview, Thus the

fate of the expedition was made for a time, to depend on the -

eventualities of a ceremonial, in which the blood of bulls, and
the peculiar markings on chicken’s bones, would play a pro-
minent and perhaps a decisive part.

45, On the same day (29th January) that Moung
Shwd Yah returned from Ponlyne, the Tsitkais also appeared,
and entered into a string of particulars, by which to convinee
me that the absence of the %akhyen Saubwas was a natural
proceeding, which could be easily explained. The orders in
force were, they said, that no Kakhyen should enter Bhamo.
The Nitkhandaw, a very lively official, subordinate only in
name to the Tsitkais, but more active in his obstructiveness
than any of his brethren in office, acted as spokes-man on this

occasion, and publicly declared that if any Kakhyen was -

caught by Burmans inside the stockade he was liable to be
shot down as an enemy. He concluded as follows. “The
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“ Saubwas will think that we are sending for them for the
“gole purpose of getting them into our power. Itisnot likely
“ that they will come with the certainty, in their own belief,
“ of being put to death ; but even supposing the Ponlyne Sau-
“ bwa and others in his vicinity, come and agree to escort
“ you into their hills, this will be no real help to you, since
“ there are numerous chiefs at a distance who are independent
“ of our power altogether, and who will never consent to allow
“you a free passage into the Shan States. In some places
“in the Hills your route will lay through narrow defiles, akbove
“ which means are taken to command and prevent all chance
“ of approach, unless with previous consent.”

46. It can hardly be deemed a mere coincidence, after
these several attempts to thwart and deter us from further
enterpise, that the principal Chinese inhabitants of Bhamo
should have selected this day to invite us to take part in an
entertainment, specially provided for the members of the ex-
pedition. Nothmo could have exceeded the hospitality of
our new Chinese friends. We sat round a table on which a
very complete desert of twenty five dishes had been previous-
ly arranged. Tea was handed round, and each guest, in ad-
dition found a veritable teapot at his side, filled with the
strongest samshoo. The desert being removed, fresh and
substantial signs of hospitality evinced themselves in the
appearance of nine separate dishes of cooked meats and veg-
etables, which we were forced by good breeding to attack
with chopstlcks

47. In my diary of the day previous I find the following
entry. “I am informed on good authority that the China-
“men of this place are much opposed to the expedition. They
“ believe, it is said, that we are leagued by caste or race with
“the Panthays and are about to make common cause with
“ them, to the detriment of the Chinese Government. The
¢ Chinese residents here are in active correspondence with
“ their brethren at Mandalay. The Panthays of Yunan have
“only partially subjugated that portion of the province of
“ Yunan which is in their possession. There are still it is
“ said, several towns and villages this side of Momein which
“ do not acknowledge any master, and in some instances the
“ malcontents are confederated into large bands of dacoits
“ who areready at any time to act against the Panthay Go-
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“ vernment. These are the dacoits who block up the way
“ between Bhamo and the Chinese frontier and it is with
“ them, I hear, that the Chinamen of this place are in corres-
“ pondence, with a view to obstruct our passage to Momein.
“ They think only of their own petty interests, and would
“ neutralize the objects and success of our present undertaking,
¢ for the sole purpose, if no other existed, of keeping to them-
“ gelves their present petty earnings, instead of allowing them-
“ selves to be entirely swamped, as they suppose, by opening
“ out to all the overland route between Bhamo and South
“ Western China.”

48. Itsoon became evident, that the object of the China
men, in awarding us so much good cheer, was about to be dis-
closed in a plausible attempt to second the obstructive and
deterrent pleas already insinuated by Burmese officialism.
With all the courtesy in the world I was definitely given to
understand that the expedition was proceeding on a wild
goose chase. The old argument was again adduced. “How
“can you possibly succeed in accomplishing that which even
“ Kings have striven for but failed to attain.

49. This state of affairs lasted until 31st January, when
the Kakhyen Chief of Ponlyne arrived and paid me his pro-
mised visit. He was dressed as a Chinese mandarin, and
carried a golden umbrella, which had been presented to him
by the King of Burma. Contrary to Burmese etiquette in
thetr dealings with Kakhyens, I received the chief with the
respect due to his position, and the Police escort was drawn
up under arms, for his peculiar benefit and edification. But,
half Burman half Chinaman as regarded his externals, the
hang-dog-expression of his countenance (different in every
respect from the Kakhyen type, or from any type I had ever
seen) was an ugly feature in the proceeding, which did not
augur well for the results of our proposed conference.

50. The whole of the Burmese Officials of Bhamo at-
tended in full strength, and the interpretation in the Kakhyen
language was conducted by a Burman Tamon of the village
of Nanlyan. The Kakhyen Chief and his followers were
stern and obstinately silent. They hardly condescended to
answer the few questions of greeting and salutation by which
I tried to enlist their sympathies, and pave the way to busi-
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ness communications. But as soon as I commenced to make
enquiries regarding our route and the practicability of tran-
sit, the interpreter above referred to suddenly warmed with
the subject, and became so demonstrative in his over eager-
ness to commucate all that boded difficulty or evil, that I saw
at once he was improvising statements of his own, and was
obliged therefore, after a time, to disown his services in toto
and to ask rather energetlcally for a man who would take less
interest in the subject matter of the conference, and conﬁne
himself, simply, to truthful interpretation.

51. The Saubwa remained intractable, but I could see
that the position he had assumed was in a measure forced, on
account of the presence of the Burmese officials. After a time
I was enabled to speak to him a little more privately, and with
more promising results. He was able to guarantee safe tran-
sit through his portion of the Hill route, but would not be
answerable for the conduct of other Chiefs beyond the range
of his authority. I distinctly asked, whether it was his real
wish, or the wish of the Kakhyen people generally, that we
should pass through their country?

He answered at once, “Yes, and we will take care of
“you.” Then, why did you say just now, that supplies were
‘““not procurable, that mules would be charged for at treble
“ their usual cost, and that you would not be answerable for

“ the conduct of other chiefs?”

He was significantly silent, and T was not slow to see
that he secretly desired a more private interview.

52.  On the following day Ponlyne again presented him-
self; and after a good deal of haggling . conversation, in the
presence of several Burmese Officials, an arranoement was en-
tered into for the supply of one hundred mules, to convey us .
from a point on the Tahpen river, above Bhamo, to Manwyne,
the first Shan town of unportance met with on descendmg the
hills which slope into the Sanda valley at it’s western extrem-
ity.

53. The Kakhyen Chief subsequently accompanied me
into a private room, and Moung Shwé Yah acted as interpre-
ter in Chinese, a language; with which most Kakhyens seem
to be familiar, more so at least than with either Shan or
Burmese. The sullen stupidity. of the savage at once merged
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into a genuine expression, of reason and intelligence. He ac-
knowledged that his backwardness in coming to see me or to
provide facilities for our journey had been prompted by a dis-
inclination on his part to offend the scruples of his Chinese
friends in Bhamo, who had written and advised him to keep
out of the way altogether.

He too had Chinese friends he said in the countries east-
ward, and it would ruin him if they believed that he alone
of all the Kakhyen Chiefs had been instrumental in afford-
ing a European expedition the means of entering their coun-
try. He made it a sine-qui-non on this account that I
would insist on Burman support and co-operation ; so far at
least as to ensure the attendance of a small Burmese party
who would accompany the expedition from Bhamo for appear-
ance sake only, and thus relieve him of the onus of being
considered our sole conductor.

54. Nothing could more clearly indicate the state of the
Chief’s feelings, and his knowledge of the obstacles which Bur-
mese Officials were Insidiously and persistently throwing in
our way, than this simple desire, when all chance of active
interference on their part was at an end, that these same Bur-
man officials should be asked to take a demonstrative part only
in our proceeding, and act as dummies, in a way which openly
belied their own wishes, and the very limited scope of their
real intentions. Had Ponlyne openly accused them of down-
right hostility to our undertaking, his words would not have
been 8o innocently effective or naturally convincing as the
simplé , consistant requisition, that Burmese officials should
contribute, by & mock show of reality, to a proceeding which
it was well known from the first they had indirectly thwarted
| and eppesed. vene emﬁen%m'r;nf —_
| 55. It required but little explanation on my partto
give the chief a Comprehensive idea of the object of the expe-
dition, or to convince him of the advantages which it offered
to the inhabitants of the countries through which the Bhamo
trade route would eventually pass. I had not at the time dis-
covered the peculiarities of the Kakhyen mind, or realized to
its full extent the avaricious greed of this chief in particular. .
There could be no harm, however, in promising rewards for
faithful services, or in making a show of certain finery which

™
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it was my wish to present to the chief, as an earnest of present
gain and future emoluments. '

The chief viewed the gifts with inexpressible delight, but
requested me to keep them till I reached his village. Much
as he coveted them, their acceptance by him at the present
time, he said, would give offence to Burmese officials of Bha-
mo, and interfere moreover with his own arrangements to
serve me as effectually as he desired.

56. The nextday ( 2nd February ) Ponlyne took his
departure from Bhamo with the promise to procure mule
carriage and make all other requisite preparations for a start
in ten days from date. There was no longer any difficulty as
regarded the consent of the Kakhyen chiefs. He(Ponlyne) boas-
ted of his relationship with and superiority over all the Saub-
was on the route we were to take. He was in a position, by
his own statement, to guarantee safe transit through Kakhyen
land, as far as Manwyne, the first Shan town met with, on the
Yunan side of the Kakhyen Hills vid Ponlyne.

57. The same afternoon, the Nanlyan Tamon (the man
whom I had so summarily got rid of for false interpretation
on the occasion of Ponlyne’s first visit) came to me, in a very
abject condition, and confessed that he had purposely exag-
gerated difficulties and raised imaginary sources of opposition
to our intended journey, having been advised to do so, by those
whom it would have been a crime in him to disobey. ﬁe was
faithfully attached, he said, to Moung Shwe Yah, my Chinese
interpreter, and supposed that I would perceive the awkward-

ness of his position, and make allowance for obligations he was
under to his Burmese masters. '

58. He further stated to me that he was present with the
Ponlyne Saubwa at the time letters were brought to him
from the Chinese residents of Bhamo, who wrote to dissuade
the Chief against visiting that town, or from giving us his
assistance. The Tamon though cunning and- shrewd in his
duplicity, was truthful, I believe, in the present instance, be-
cause he knew that I had found him out, but his subsequent
dealings, prove that the excuses made for false interpretation
and hostility to our cause on the 31st January, were mere at-
tempts to gain my confidence, and acquire greater facilities for
working out the ruinous designs of his Burmese superiors.

3
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59. But to continue the account of Burmese petty ob-
structiveness, I may mention, even at the risk of extending
my narrative indefinitely, that the embarrasments of our posi-
tion were not improved by a forced and unnatural restraint
on the part of the Burmese inhabitants of the place, which
compelled them to be silent and uncommunicative on all points
in which it was essential to procure truthful or reliable infor-
mation. -

This reserve on the part of the people contrasted very
unmistakeably with their true instincts. Their real disposition
we know to be friendly and unobstructive. They had re-
peatedly assured us that the presence of the English expe-
dition at Bhamo gave confidence, and secured them against
the frequent raids of hostile Kakhyens. For months past,
previous to our arrival, their nights had been spent in fear
and watching. But the protection afforded by our presence
had given relief, and placed them under obligations which,
in the ordinary course of human nature, would certainly not
have resulted in unfriendliness of disposition or a desire to
be uncommunicative on matters of general and social interest.

" 60. The population generally had been terrified into a
belief that any familiarity with members of the expedition,
or information afforded relative to existing trade routes
between Burma and the south western provinces of China,
would subject informers to a Government prosecution, a
mode of proceeding which had terrific signification in its
practical application to the unofficial masses of an outlying
Burmese Province.

61. Numerous proofs were soon given of this Official
interdiction to friendly intercourse between ourselves and the
people of Bhamo. The officials themselves evaded all such
causes of complaint, until forced into a conviction of their
reality. Extenuation was then sougnt, in the announcement
that the officials themselves were at logger-heads with each
; other, and could not be held individually responsible in the
B absence of a Governor or other Chief controlling power. The

' consequence was that, whether by design or otherwise, the
part taken by the officers of Government at this time had
assumed a course which coincided exactly with the well
known Burmese policy of exclusiveness, by which it was
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intended to bar for ever the right of way beyond the Burmese
capital to foreign traders or intruders, whatever their claims
or the introduction under which those claims were presented.

62. Thus the officials from whom alone real assistance
was due had become our steadiest opponents. Redress could
hardly be expected from those who were principally concern-
ed in instigating the several wrongs complained against. My
frequent reference to the patronage under which the expedi-
tion originated, and the direful consequences of offendi
against royal promises of support given by the King of Bur-
ma to Her Majesty’s Government and confidently acknow-
ledged by that Government, were not likely to be regarded
by men who drew their inspiration and belief from Burmese
Head Quarters at Mandalay.

63. I will illustrate the above remarks by another pas-
sage taken at random from my rough diary under date 9th
February.

“Qther instances have occurred of Burmese little mind-
“ edness and cruelty. An old Munipooree woman, who had
“ occasionally interpreted for me in the Kakhyen language,
“ was yesterday dragged out of her house into the public
“ Streets and severely beaten at the instance of the Nakhan-
“ daw, a petty officer under the Tsitkai. The reason given
“ for thus publicly chastising this poor female is that she
“ had burned a light in her house the previous evening after
“ hours. The real cause of her offence happens to be that she
“ agsisted us to be kind towards a small party of despised
“ Kakhyens. The woman has complained to me privately,
“ but begs that I will not invite further trouble and suffer-
“ing by making a direct grievance of her case. Many others
“ have come forward and complained of the restraint put
“ ypon them and the fear of punishment which precludes the
« proffer of their services. Amongst the crowd of candidates
“ who are eager for employ if left to their natural inclinations
“ T find it is impossible to procure the services of a Kakhyen
“ or Shan interpreter. To-day a common Shikaree, who had
« promised to shew us game, has been obliged to excuse him-
“ gelf on the plea that he was in danger of provoking official
“ censure by contributing in any way to our wants &ec., &c.
“ The north Tsitkai called this evening whilst we were at
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“ dinner and 1 explained to him our detestation of the Na-
“ khan’s behaviour, in having publicly chastised a poor wo-
“ man whose only offence was that she had helped us in our
“ communications with inoffensive Kakhyens. The Tsitkai
“ did not attempt to refute my complaints, but excused them
“on the ground of misunderstanding and disagreement
“ amongst the officials with whom he was associated. The
“ orders of one were nullified or exaggregated he said by the
“ envy or design of another. This could not be helped as
“ the officials acted independently of each other and Bhamo
“ was without a controlling Governor. I mentioned the cir-
“ cumstance of the Burman Shikaree.

“ Tsitkay.—Never mind I will give you a man.

“So I suppose he would. It simply amounts to this that
““we are forced into an unnatural dependence on these officials
“for every want however trivial, and even then with very
“little chance of success because the officials pretend to be
“divided amongst themselves and submit to the disgrace
“ of openly admitting the trecherous cancelment of each other’s
“ orders.

“They are stupid enough to think that this nonsense is
“ believed in, and that I fail to perceive that the alleged dis-
“ agreement amongst themselves is a mere pretext, by which
“they rely on their ability to continue a Policy of obstructive-
“ness with credit to themselves and to the complete satis-
“faction of their Mandalay masters.” &ec. &e.

64. On the 13th February the Tsitkais called upon me
with letters from a Burman Officials at Tahpen, which report-
ed several recent attacks on villages in his neighbourhood by
large numbers of marauding Kakhyens, who were said to
have taken up a position. on the direct route by which the
+ expedition would pass in its progress towards the Shan States.

65. These letters and the reports they contained were
anything but veritable or genuine in themselves, but the em-
phasis and enthusiasm with which the Tsitkais dwell upon
their contents, as means of giving additional zest to the many
other deterrent stories in circulation at Bhamo which related
to the dangerous opposition which the expedition would of a
certainty encounter, made it at length inevitable that I should
come to a complete understanding with them in this and
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other instances of official interference in the affairs of the
expedition.

66. As a further reason for plain speaking I may
mention that my information at this time made it evident
that the Tsitkais had cognizance of certain communications
from the Robber Chief Lees-hee-ta-hee who in reply either to
their requisitions or the requisitions of the Chinese residents
of Bhamo had signified to them his readiness to cooperate in
our extermination by threats of armed opposition, as soon as
we appeared within the limits of his supposed jurisdiction.

Moung Shweé Yah, my Chinese interpreter, saw one of
these letters and entered the Burmese Yon or Court of
justice at a time when a discussion was being held regarding
it : but the letter was folded up and the discussion ceased
as soon as it was known that my interpreter or a person then
supposed to be in my confidence formed one of their
assembly.

67. Subsequently a writer of the Court, in conversation
with a Burman clerk in my employ, not only admitted the
receipt of letters from Lees-hee-ta-hee but declared that they
were favourable to tha cause of the British Expedition.
Lees-hee-ta-hee had merely stipulated, he said, that the Eng-
lish party should advance alone without any Burmese ac-
companiments. :

This stipulation is hardly intelligible unless we bear in
mind the ambiguous style of writing which would naturally
be adopted in a secret correspondence carried on between
officers of the Burmese Government and a friendly Robber
chieftain of a foreign state !

- 68. The following has been suggested to me as the
correct interpretation of that portion of Lees-hee-ta-hee’s letter,
which provides that the English party should proceed on its
journey, without a Burmese escort. -

The Chinese dacoit-bands, which were pledged to
annihilate the British Expedition, felt scruples of conscience
which did not allow of their acting on the offensive towards
Burmese subjects for whom as brethern in crime they were
supposed to entertain a profound friendly regard  They
therefore intimated to the Tsitkais, in polite and suggestive
terms, that it would be as well if Burmans did not form a
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portion or our party. The truth is that the presénce of a
Burmese guard would have implied that we were under
Burmese offi¢ial protection, and this fact alone, considering
the nature of Lees-hee-ta-hee’s relationship with and confessed
subservience to the Court of Mandalay, must have secured
us against much active oppositiom

69. It was now late in February. More than the
allotted ten days had elapsed since Ponlyne’s last visit and
‘still there was no news of the Kakhyen Chief or of his pro-
mised succour Rumours had reached Bhamo in the mean
time that the new Governor had left Mandalay by boat and
might be expected daily.

By degrees I realized what might have been apparent
from the first, viz. that the officials then in power at Bhamo
had never intended that we should leave that place before
the new Governor’s arrival. I had worried the officials and
myself for nearly a month to no purpose. Their impassive-
ness was now accounted for, for to all intents and purposes
they had simply been acting within the scope of their instruc-
tions, and felt secure against all prospect ofP censure or rebuke
at Mandalay Head Quarters.

70. With the full conviction that the Tsitkais had given
up every idea of furthering the cause of our expedition at
Bhamo, my only chance of success was to push our interests
with the Kakhyens and disregard all prohibitory orders,
which made it penal on the part of Burmese subjects to afford
us their assistance. S '

71. It had been necessary, from the date of Ponlyne’s
last departure from Bhamo, to keep up communication with
that chief by means of my own messengers, and I was thus
enabled to disprove the false reports relating to raids and dis-
turbances in and about the vicinity of our proposed route
through the Kakhyen Hills. :

72. My messengers were further enabled, in their inter-
course with Ponlyne, to learn and note the endeavours which
were being made by adverse interests to bring ruin on the
expedition, even though it might eventually succeed in mak-
ing a fair start from Bhamo. The opposition most likely to
be effectual and even dangerous in its results was that which
related to a correspondence which I have already referred to
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between certain Chinese residents of Bhamo, and the famous
Robber chief Lees-hee-ta-hee. It was not within my means at
the time to obtain direct proofs by which to test the real na-
ture of this correspondence, but the Chinese themselves spoke
openly of their confederate Lees-hee-ta-hee, and frequently al-
luded to him as an irresistable barrier to any attempt we
might make to reach Momein.

73. Ponlyne too was reported to be wavering in his
fidelity. He could not help recognizing the fact of formida-
able Chinese influences, which were the more dangerous to
himself from the fact that the Chinese were seconded in their
hostility to the expedition by the support and countenance of
the Burmese Government.

At the same time the Tsitkais, taking advantage of the
state of helplessness to which they themselves had mainly
contributed, advised me, with well feigned earnestness, to
await the Governor’s arrival, and be guided by his counsel in
determining upon a further prosecution of my journey.

74. 'The position then at this ‘time may be briefly reca-
pitulated as follows.— -

The Kakhyen Chief was supposed to await the expedition
with mule carriage at Tahpen. I was disposed to trust his
services, in spite of calumnious reports of bad faith and an
insidious rumour to the effect that he was known to have
loagued himself with those who were then engaged in con-
spiring our discomfiture.

The Bhamo officials had been persevering in their efforts
to discountenance the expedition, to make it unpopular
throughout the province, and to discourage every attempt to
advanee beyond the cordon of Bhamo.

If T proceeded and met with reverses the Burmese Go-
vernment would have it in its power to declare, with some
show of reality and truth, that I had neglected advice, or
disregarded consejuences, as foretold by its own officers. My
instructions were distinct and imperative. The Government
would “prefer to see the expedition raoturn, without accom-
‘“ plishing the object for which it was undertaken, than learn

“that the safety of the party had in any degree been compro-
“ mised. : :
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- 75. It had thus become an unavoidable necessity, under
all circumstances, to abide by my instructions, and submit to
the further delay of awaiting the new Governor’s arrival,
rather than allow the Burmese Government the power of
making it appear that I had acted with undue haste, or with-
out a just regard to official admonition.

'Such delay was inevitable from the first, but the vile
duplicity to which we had been subjected was such, that the
facts of the position were only realized by a gradual devel-
opement of unpleasant disclosures, after the expedition party

had reached Bhamo.

These discloures were, for the time, a grave contradiction to
all the imaginary facilities of opening out the old overland
trade route through Burma to China. Plans which had all
along appeared practicable and facile in theory presented in
practice a series of obstacles, which were not only perplexing at
the time but promised to be eventually insurmountable. Patient
endurance and forced submission were the more irksome and
oppressive because provoked by breach of faith and a wan-
ton departure from international obligations.

76. It was not until I had fully comprehended the mag-
nitude of the dangers to which a British expedition would be
exposed, in consequence of the Chinese confederacy at Bhamo
and the professed inability of the Burmese Government to be
of any service to us beyond Burmese territory, that an expe-
dient presented itself of counteracting the intended evil by
a direct appeal for assistance to a power over which the Bur-
mese (Government was then supposed to possess no contrcl-
ling influence.

77. The City of Momein was well known at the time
to be the Head quarters of a Panthay Governor, who exercis-
ed soverei%nty also over the Shan States bordering on Upper
Burma. The Panthays themselves have shown an inclination
of late years to revive the old caravan trade with Burma,
and there was reasonable ground for presuming that their
interests would lead them to disfavour the pretensions of a
Chinese Freebooter like Lees-hee-ta-hee, whose very existence
and means of livelihood were persistently opposed to every
legitimate effort to promote either friendly intercourse with
neighbouring states, or commercial Freedom within their
OWD possessions. ‘ ) '
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The Chinese of Bhamo were confederated with this
Lees-hee-ta-hee for the purpose of keeping to themselves the
profits arising out of a petty trade, as it then existed, be-
tween that place and the States and Provinces lying East-
ward in the direction of China.

The cessation of trade between Burma and China had
become dependent rather on a system of recognized freeboot-
ing on the frontiers of Burma, than on disorganization
produced by a period of deva.sta.tmg civil war within the
Province of Yunan.

78. In 1866 Lees-hee-ta-heehad gained so far on Burman
credulity as to head a deputation to the King of Burma, in
which he passed himself off as the representative of certain
Shan Chiefs, who were desirous, he said, to make over their
country to the Burmese Government. His deputation was
successful so far as to have been well received by the King
of Burma ; but his Majesty, in referring to the supposed Shan
Deputa.tlon in his conversation with me before the expedi-
tion started from Mandalay, had made it appear that the late
rebellion in his own country prevented active interference
on his part in the affairs of the Shan States. Lees-hee-ta-hee
nevertheless received two gold umbrellas as a mark of vassal-
age, and in appreciation of the disinterestedness with which
he had acted on behalf of certain Shan States, with a view to
their becoming a component part of His Majesty’s dominions.

With these distinetions he returned to his stronghold
on the Mauphoo hills, where for years past he had so far con-
trolled the caravan route between Bhamo and South-Western-
China as to put an eftectual stop to all legitimate traffic.

79. It will be seen from the above that there was a suf-
ficient connectionship between this Robber Chieftain and the
authorities in Burma (Chmese or Burmese) to make him a
useful tool in eﬁectmg elt e tflze ruin or the accomphshment
of any pI'OpOSGd object 14‘—‘-{!" 30 e Cp AT g el n / t‘—4« A L’ﬂ(/R

Anig ;i dd’ 7)(/» L

Had his services been um{zed by the Burmese Govern-
ment (as they most assuredly might have been) for the pur-
pose of opening the old overland trade route with Momein; or

. had they even been enlisted in our behalf asa means of further-
ing an advance towards the Chinese frontier, the success of
_the expedition, as regards exploration within the Shan States,

4

Google



| 26 ]

must have been considerably expedited, and we should in all
%roba.bility have avoided detention on the Kakhyen Hills,

ut in as much as that it had been openly annnounced and
declared at Bhamo, that Lees-hee-ta-hee was himself hostileand
had been made the tool of our enemies to eppose British in-
fluences beyond Burmese Territory, it became a matter of very
serious moment to frustrate designs which set at naught every
reasonable hope of suocessful enterprise in the direction of our
proposed exploration. ‘

80. Hence originated the idea or expedient of making
application to the Governor of Momein, by the despatch of
letters which, whilst they stated the true object of our mis-
sion and were intended at the same time to escape the action
of our supposed friends in Burma, were designed also to
further our own interests and invite the assistance of the Pan-
thay Government.

I was particular, however, in affording some sort of proof
that although we liad met with opposition at Bhamo the
Burmese Government was with us in our undertaking, and
had recorded its assent to the same in a Royal Proclamation ;
a copy of which, together with printed copics of our treaties
with the Burmese éovernment, were forwarded with my let-
ters to the Momein Government (vide appendix),

81, The letters were forwarded from Bhamo by private
Kakhyen scouts on the 19th February ; and their concoction
and despatch were contrived with a secrecy which, either by
chance or miracle, defied the surveillance of even Burmese
detectives, '

1 subsequently learned beyond all doubt thatthe Bha-
mo Governor, when informed of the means thps successfully
used to secure Panthay assistance and defeat the designs of
his own subordinates, was savage beyond measure, and com-
mented on their supineness and want of vigilance with an ani-
mosity and force which resulted in the subsequent despatch
of those Officials in irons and in disgrace to Mandalay.

82. It is only fair, perhaps, to mention that the alleged
reason for the dismissal of the Bhamo Officials was their in-
famous treatment of the British Expedition. But to give
credence to such an announcement appears to me to outrage
alike justice and commen- senre. The Officials were retained
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in office for. months after my own letters condemning theit
conduct had been delivered to His Majesty. Their removal
from office took place only after the return of Captain Wil-
liams and Mr. Stewart from Ponsee, and after it had become
manifest that we had outwitted our opponents by the des-
patch of letters to Momein. It is moreover an offence against
Justice to assume that men should have been ignominiously
dismissed from office and kept in irons for an indefinite period
for a faithful discharge of duty in carrying out the orders and
Policy of their own Government or of their immediate supe-
riors in Government employ. :

W=
83. But the Governor of Bhamo is now himself on the
scene ab=Bhammo. He arrived by boat on the 20th February,
and sent to tell me the same evening that it was not his in-
tention to land until the 23rd, as the intervening days were:
unpropitious and unsuited to so momentous an unélertaking.

This determination he stuck to, in spite of my written
protest and entreaties that he would not allow private consid-
erations of convenience to delay, for even one day, matters
of great urgency, which could not be disposed of until aflter
he had landed and installed himself in Office as Governor of
Bhamo. '

84. The following is a short account of my first inter-
view with the Governor, as extracted from my rough Diary
of 28rd February 1868. ‘Greetings over I referred with
“ gurprise to the Governor’s protracted stay at Mandalay in
“ excess of the time which had been stipulated for by himself
“ and allowed by the King. I spoke of the unwonted time-
“ occupied en route, and my own difficulties during the inter-
“val of his absence, in combating the obstructiveness of his.
“ subordinate officers at Bhamo.

“The Governor tried to justify the delay as well as the
“ other annoyances I had experienced, on the. ground that
“ the Officials at Bhamo had not fully comprehended the or-
“ ders issued at Mandalay, and were moreover, he said, at va-_
“ riance amongst themselves. Supposing such to be the
“ cagse, it is not satisfactory, I said, after having waited a
“ month in vain attempts to rouse the Officials to energy and.
“ a sense of their duty, to find that the Governor himself had
“ allowed four days to elapse since his arrival without, evine-
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““ ing "any desire to avoid further procrastination, and make
“ up for the miserable shortcomings of his blundering subor-
“ dinates. The Governor said that, being a New Man, he was
“ ignorant of local customs. He professed to be actuated by
“ a zealous interest in our undertaking, and promised to facil-
“ itate our departure .by every means in his power. But
“ take my advice, he said, and do not start until I have time
“ to superintend all your arrangements, and satisfy myself
“ personally that there is nothing amiss.”

85. The Kakhyen Chief Ponlyne arrived the next day,
and paid me an early visit before proceeding to see the Go-
vernor. He particularly begged that I would not forget his
former reasons for urging upon the Governor’s notice the ad--
visability of sending a small Burmese escort with the party,
as far as the Shan town of Manwyne. I accompanied Pon-
lyne on a visit to the Governor, and the whole day was spent
in conferences and explanation. As soon as the subject of
the Burmese escort was touched upon the Governor turned
to the Kakhyen Chief and asked him in rather browbeating
style. “Why do you want a Burmese guard?

Ponlyne.—A guard was allowed when the King’s cotton
was sent for sale a year or two ago.

Governor—Yes ; that was-a different matter altogether;
' ( angrily) no guard is required now !

Ponlyne.—(rather staggered) Oh! I understand.”

86. What Ponlyne understood, or was intended to un-
derstand, was that the sale of the cotton was a matter in-
which the Burmese Government had an intimate concern
but that the Bhamo Expedition was a British undertaking,
and might therefore be allowed to take care of itself!

I interfered peremptorily, and begged the Governor
to explain matters clearly. I also called the Kakhyen chief
near me, (he had been hustled into an inferior position
at a distance amongst the Governor’s menials) and told him
not to be afraid but speak out his mind. The king of Bur-
ma (I continued to the Governor) had formally recognized
and supported the present enterprise. He had encouraged
the English Government to embark in it, in a full-and con-
fident reltance on that support. Did the Governor wish the
Kakhyen Chiefs and others -to understand that the Royal
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commercial speculation, in the matter of a few bales of cotton
was of greater Political importance than the well being of an
undertaiing on which the king had staked his reputation
and word ?

87. This sensational outburst had its effect, and raised
me at once in the estimation of the Kakhyen chief. To
speak so authoritatively and without fear to the Governor
of Bhamo evidenced to his mind the fact of my being a per-
son of influence and position. But Ponlyne h a.lreaﬁy been
80 unmercifully badgered by the Governor because he had
dared to make mention of a Burmese guard, and had more
over been so clearly made to understand that he was con-
demned solely on account of this unpalatable requisition,
that he elected to forego the guard altogether, and told the
Governor, under evident compulsion, that he would undertake
to conduct us in safety to Manwyne without Burmese aid or
intervention of any sort.

88. I came to the rescue at this crisis of affairs and
said that Ponlyne’s reasons for specially re(ci{uiring a Burmese
guard were good, and would be explained by and by, or as
soon as the Governor would allow the chief to confer with
him in private. -

Shortly afterwards the Governor dismissed his nume-
rous attendants and I sent away mine, we were therefore
alone. ‘ - '

The Kakhyen Chief now spoke out, and said that it was
his fear of Chinese influences at Bhamo and on the frontier
which caused him to ask for a Burmese guard, to save appea-
ances only, so that mischief-makers might not have it in
their power to say that he alone was to blame for having
broug}flt English interlopers into a Foreign state.

89. I too had all along complained of these same Chi-
nese influencesand was glad of the open testimony thus
vouchsafed to the Governor, by a comparatively disinterested
Kakhyen chief, who had himself only recently been bound to
Chinese interest and ‘was even then inclined to abanden us to
serve their cause. :

The Governor said that he was aware of the Chinese op-
position, but could not as yet discover whether the mischief
arose at Bhamo or at Mandalay where the Merchants were
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desirous for their own sakes to keep the Bhamo route closed,
0 a8 to profit to the full extent by the Southern route vii
Theebo and Thainee. He promised that the head Chinaman
should be called upon for an explanation. He would himself
make full enquiries &c., &c.

90. Ponlyne called again the same afternoon, and seem-
ed ill at ease and disheartened.

He was evidently much hurt at the Governor’s refusal
to give tangible proof of a willingness to assist the expedition.
I could see that he was personally anxious on his own account.
The drift of his remarks was as follows :—

“ Both the Chinese and Burmese are against (f"ou ; but
“ never mind, leave this place quickly and depend on me.
“ The Chinese give out that you are going to join the Pan-
“ thays against them. They really would not care if you did.
“ This is not their real grievance. Their chief reason for
“ wishing you evil is, that they may monopolize trade them-
“ gelves and keep all outsiders at a distance. ”

91. The Kakhyen chief had openly announced in the
presence of the Governor his ability to conduct the expedi-
tion as far as the Shan town of Manwyne. He had Il))een
forced into abandoning a point which affected his private
interests very considerably, viz the desire that Burmese
Officials should enter an appearance in the affairs of the expe-
dition, and not withdraw themselves as unconcerned specta-
tors only.

Nevertheless Ponlyne agreed to conduct us himself as
far as Manwyne without Burman aid or support. He had
formally guaranteed the good will and cooperation of all other
Kakhyen Chiefs, and I saw reason at the time to confide in
his powers, rather than abandon ourselves to the procrastina-
tion of the Burmese Government.

92. I was still, however, dependent on the Governor for
the services of interpreters in the Kakhyen and Shan languages..
Numbers of men were available for the work, and would ac-
company me anywhere, but the fear of offending by disobey-
ing Government orders which placed us beyond the pale of
communication with Burmese subjects, overcame their own
instincts and paralized every effort I had hitherto made to
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procure assistance of any kind by a recourse to ordiné,ry
expedients, ‘

93. When I explained my difficulties in this respect to
the Governor in person, an order was given to the Tahpen
Cheoung-oke to accompany the expedition himself, or make
over to we. two of his subordinate peons, or Tamons of vil-
lages, who spoke either the Shan or Kakhyen languages. The
Cheoung-oke in my presence openly told the Governor that
he would rather forfeit his position as Cheoung-oke than be
under the necessity of obeying orders which compelled him
to accompany the expedition on so perilous an undertaking,
The Governor smiled instead of rebuking the official and
enforcing his own orders ; but two Tamons were afterwards
told off, and directed to place themselves under my orders as
interpreters to our party. The Tamons belonged to the vil-
lages of Manlyaw and Hentha and the understanding was
that they should join me on our arrival at Tahpen.

94. Only one more slight hitch and we shall have
turned our backs on Bhamo and the hateful incubus of its
Burmese belongings.

All the money in my possession consisted of India
coined Rupees, which, it was said would not pass current ‘s
amongst Kakhyens ‘or within the Shan states, /The Rupees ¢/
must be changed for silver Bullion of péé standard, rea-
dily procurable at Bhamo, and current everywhere. Such
at least was the information tendered at Mandalay ; and yet
on arrival at Bhamo silver had become, for some unaccoun-
table reason, an unknown commodity altogether. I would
%ladly have changed five thousand Rupees. It was our all,

ut no amount of solicitation was of any avail in procuring as
many hundreds in Bullion. I importuned every one. The
Chinese said they were poor, and did not possess silver. The
Officials excused the emptiness of their Treasury by assur-
ing me that remittances had only just been made to the ca-
pital on account of the previous year’s tax collections.

95. The South Tsitkay sent his wife to me who said,
that if I would give her time and pay out Rs. in advance she
‘might possibly get me (200) two hundred Rupees worth of
change in the indefinite Burmese period of four or five days,
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The sitkay’s wife was a garrulous old lady of 60, who
boasted of her near relationship to a Woongyee at the the capi-
tal. She had evidently assumed the privileges of a Burmese
Woongadaw ( Governors’s wife ) and to all appearances con-
ducted a large percentage of his Official duties. The al-
leged inability of such a woman, backed as she was by so
much official status and authority, to procure & small amount
only of what on an ordinary occasion would have been forth-
coming in abundance, was & convincing argument against
the futility of my attempting a bullion business on a large
scale, and I persevered in the work so far only as to let the
Governor know my wants and receive his stereotyped reply
in this as in all other petty emergencies, that being a new
man 1’16 found it out of his power to afford me any assistance.

g6. There was no help for it, wemust start with Rupees
or not at all. Had bullion been procurable the exchange would
have involved, by Burmese calculation, an estimated loss of
(30) thirty per cent. My own idea was that Rupees would
not be valueless, even in the Shan States, and that as a
last resource, if the coin was refused, the Rupees might be mel-
ted down as required at less cost and trouble than the labour
ond vexation of making Burmese give in when once the de-
termination had been come to of sending us on our journey
‘minus cash and as they supposed minus ever ing.

" g%, No silver, no interpreters, the evil influence arising
out of stremuous Burmese opposition; and yet a British ex-
edition was about to advance through a country which even
urmese Missions had failed to penetrate.
 'Well might the officials chuckle over the utter state of
helplessness to which they conceived the expedition had been
reduced by a wanton disregard to Royal Promisges and in-
ternational obligations. ‘

98. It was evidently beyond their powers of calculation
to take into account that our worldly ghort comings were
more than out balanced by the possession -of qualities which,
however, alien to Burmese conceptions, would probably gain
for us a larger amount of success than was procurable by
wealth or it’s more material accompaniments. Honesty of

urpose, & good cause, friendly conciliation, and perfect
truthfulness, were likely in the long run to be steadier allies

Google



[ 33 ]

and more certain aids to success, than all the resources of
Bhamo, tinged as they must have been by elements of deceit.

99. But it is time to start. The 26th of February is a
day to be remembered in the annals of the expedition. On
the 25th our baggage had been despatched by boat, and
would be conveyed up the Tahpen river to a village where
mules were in waiting to convey it across the Hills to Man-
wyne. '

The land journey from Bhamo to this said village was
the most convenient to travellers relieved of their baggage,
but as the route led through jungle and was intersected at
short intervals by branch roads which diverged in all direc-
tions and led no one knew where, a guide was an absolute
necessity. It was necessary too, to provide against other
contingencies, as implied by the fact that a broad, rapid, un-
fordable river would be encountered on our first march, and
that the means for crossing it could not be depended on
without contrivance and a certain amount of Burmese pre-
arrangement.

100. On the 25th the Officials (I was still made to
depend on them for every want) had assured me that efficient
arrangements had been made for our start the next morning,
and that guides, with the requisite number of porters, should
be in early attendance to accompany us on the first march.
out of Bhamo. They failed in their promises to the last;
and it was with difficulty that we got off at 10 . M., with
“very incomplete attendance and no guides. :

It would have been more baneful to our proceeding to
have remained on this account, and hazarded the delay of
obtaining a guide, than to have started without one and
trusted to accident. I chose the latter alternative and was
right. A petty Burmese official, known as the Toung-mhoo,
met me as I rode through the town, and was persuaded into
accompanying the party ; after carefully stipulating that I
would use my interest at Burmese Head Quarters in screen-
ing him from the liability he incurred by giving his services
to the British Expedition. The man in fact was pressed into
our service ; and it is right perhaps that I should admit (on
the principle only of giving the devil his due) that the
Toung-mhoo, though a Burman official, proved on this occa-

J
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sion, an essential aid in forcing the start from Bhamo, and
providing the means which were otherwise unavailable of
reaching a destination on the proper (right) bank of the river
Tahpen.

K 101. We arrived at the village of Tuhmeylon at 2 p. M,
i and occupied a deserted Shan Phongyee house, on the bank
. of that river. The priest had fled or become defunct, but the
paraphernalia of his office were everywhere in abundance.
We settled down into comfortable quarters, amongst model
shrines richly carved in wood and inlaid with coloured glasses,
a library of Religious Books, Sacred Alm’s Bowls, and com-
placent images of Gaudama in every variety of shape and
profusion.. They remained intact, for it would have been
sacrilege to have disturbed ought before the advent of a new
incumbent.

The baggage boats, which left Bhamo the day previous,
passed up the river during the afternoon towards our pro-
posed destination at the village of Sitkaw, which we reached
ourselves on the following morning (27th February.)

St — & s

102. Our Mules and Mule-men were assembled at
Sitkaw, and at this starting point had also arrived a few
Kakhyen Chiefs (with their Pawmynes or deputies), who were
afraid to trust themselves within the dangerous precincts of
Burman Bhamo.

The Ponsee and Tahlon Saubwas were present in person.
The Saray Saubwa was represented by his two grown-up
sons, and several Pawmynes or deputies. The route vid Pon-
lyne to Manwyne was virtually in the hands of these three
Saubwas, Ponlyne, Ponsee and Saray. They had all contri-
buted mules and men for the expedition, and their willing-
ness to serve, and allow free transit through their respective
Hill tracts, was signified without hesitation, now that no fur-
ther occasion existed for fearing or being influenced by Bur-
mese restraints. :

103. It is true that the Tahpen Cheoung-oke and a few
Tamons or heads of villages on the banks of that river
were still present; but the villagers referred to are a hybrid
race known as Shan Burmese, who pay taxes but receive no
protection from the local Government at Bhamo. Their
Head men find it necessary, therefore, to come to a private

B \
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understanding with the Kakhyen Chiefs who occupy the ad-
Jacent hills, to be mutually forbearing to each other and pur-
chase exemption from kidnapping raids to which Kakhyens
and Hybrid Shans, as a rule, are by no means (by nature)
indisposed.

The villagers thus become subservient rather to the
Kakhyen Chiefs than' to their more lawful masters at Bha-
mo, and the presence of their headman at Sitkaw, even in
a Burman capacity, could no longer act with undue restraint
on the relations of these chiefs towards the expedition party.

104. Mule-men are as intractable, and far more restive
than mules themselves, unless properly understood or under
well trained management. First experiences at Sitkaw ver-
ified this fact to an insufferable extent.

The mules generally belong to petty proprietors, whose
stock may consist of from one to a dozen animals. Each pro-
prietor is a sort of irresponsible agent, and though his mules
may be herded in a caravan with the mules of other proprie-
tors he will not be regarded as a collective whole, but looks
for and demands separate recognition, in all that relates to
the hire and use of his particular property.

105. As soon as our baggage had been made over to
the Kakhyen Chiefs, and past in review by the several mule
proprietors assembled at Sitkaw, an incessant clamor was
raised as to its apportionment into parcels, for allotment to
the several claimants for carrier employ.

I was obliged to depend a great deal, at this time, on
the Ponlyne Chief and my Chinese Interpreter Moung
Shwe Yah. Both were occasionally drunk; but this seemed
to be of no consequence, as drunkenness is the normal condi-
tion of Kakhyens when on duty, and is not regarded by
them as any real interruption to love or business.

106. I find the following note in my Diary of 29th
- February.

Diary.—*Ponlyne visited me at 12—a volley of Mus-
kets on entering the Village.

He is suffering from a night of drunken debauchery.
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I offered him Brandy as a sedative, it was nectar as
compared with his native Shamshoo. He evidently thought
so, and seized the cup, but vomited in the attempt to
gulp down its contents. He looks vacant, and woe-begone,
but talks business nevertheless. Moung Shwe-Yah has
been drinking too,and is useless—little or nothing can be
done with either in their present state. Orders are given
for mules to be brought, to try their loads. Panniers
come first, and each muleteer seizes upon an allotment of boxes
and binds them securely to the panniers. All is noise and
confusion ; but order comes out OF it after a time. The pan-
niers with their loads are subdivided again into lots and
arranged in front of our residence. But there is a superfluity
of mules, and the surplus proprietors quarrel amongst them-
selves, and fight with those who have already secured a bag-
gage allotment. Panniers are unslung, and there is much
angry dispute about their readjustment.

Ponlyne has recovered a little, and says I must leave all
to him and not interfere. The panniers must be re-arranged
tomorrow morning, and a fresh apportionment of baggage
made before we can start. The mule-men are principally Shans,
with a sprinkling only of Kakhyens. They are inclined to be
quarrelsome and discontented on account of their long deten-
tion at this place. Every little dispute calls for an appeal
to arms. The hand is instinctively led to grasp the sword
handle on the slightest provocation. But the weapon is not
often drawn. The act is demonstrative, rather than real.
There is a good deal of cowardly bluster,but it very rarely
happens that blows are struck or that actual damage is the
result. '

The Tahlon Saubwa promises to- take us. anywhere if
I will only pay him well. But he is not be trusted. I am
told that he suggested to his Brother Ponlyne the advisa-
bility ot levying an arbitrary Customs duty on our baggage
on account of mule demurrage.

Ponlyne replied very staunchly that I was his friend,
and threatened his Brother Tahlon, with immediate exter-
mination if any thing was done to cause me annoyance. There
was an earnestness in the threat which must have been ir-
resistible, for Tahlon has now become affable again and is
both friendly and useful.”

Google




L 37 |

107. We were to have left Sitkaw on the morning of
the 1st (March) but the Burmese Cheoung-oke re-appeared on
the scene with certain of the Kakhyen chiefs, and all affirm-
ed that the day (being the 9th of some imaginary Kakhyen
Month) is altogether unpropitious as a day on which to set
out on a journey or commence any other important under-
taking. Other trivial causes were assigned for delay. The
mule-men were said to be dissatisfied and quarrelsome, but the
cause of their dissatisfaction was not explained or explainable.
I expostulated strongly, though determined not to provoke
a quarrel. There seemed greater need than ever for concili-
ation and forbearance. ~No other line of action would have
been possible in the present state of our dependance on
Kakhyen friendship.Up to that very moment Burmese Offici-
alism was doing all it could to make itself obnoxious and
obstructive. But we shall get off after all. The Cheoung-oke
tried to discourage me by saying that the Kakhyen Chiefs
were at variance with the mule-men and that there would be
open strife before long. I warned him against interference
and at the same time sent for the Chiefs, and said that I
would abide by any arrangements they might choose to make
as to the distribution of mules or carriage generally. They
were satisfied. I praised them openly for friendly assistance
and they as unreservedly declared that we were their relatives
and friends and that they would be true to us for ever.

108. Demands for money were pressing and continuous.
Phoongyees even, seemed to have turned beggars. A Shan
Priest called upon us at Sitkaw, and as I treated him with
becoming respect he became communicative. Shan Phoon-
gyees are admitted to be very lax and unorthodox in their
religious observances. Our guest on this occasion appeared
to be an exception to the general rule. He possessed a large
comfortable Monastery at this village, but his Missionary
duties take him, he says, to rude villages in the interior,
where he hoped in time to convert the half Shan population
into civilized conformity with Budhist teachings.

109. The Phoongyee was wonderfully shrewd, and gave

us the following good advice ‘at parting. These are almost
his own words:—
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“ We have met before in a former existence ; and it is
“ by virtue of meritorious acts then done that I am privileged
“ to meet you again in the present existence and advise you
“ for your welfare.”

“ Let me tell you then that wisdom and prudence are
“ necessary ingredients in the performance of all worldly un-
“ dertakings. Use special care and circumspection in your
“ present expedition. Your enemies are numerous and power-
“ ful, but do not believe that they are either Shans or Kak-
~ “hyens. Do your best. We shall all hail the re-opening of
“ overland trade with China. The happiness and prosperity
“ of the Priesthood depend on the wealth and condition of
“ the country and its inhabitants. What is good for the
“ country is good also for religion &c. &c.”

110. The Expedition did not get away from Sitkaw un-
til 2 .M. on 2nd March.

Late at night on 1st the Ponlyne Chief came to tell
me that Moung Shwe-Yah my Chinese Interpreter had
colluded with the Chinese, and was as much our enemy as
any Burman of Bhamo. I sent for the man but found him
too drunk to be intelligent or intelligible.

111. On the 2nd a delay arose in taking lists of our
mule-men, and in ascertaining who they belonged to, and
what particular Chiefs were responsible for safe conduct and

protection en route.

In the midst of this confusion the Ponsee and Tahlon
- Saubwas discovered, in an interval of sobriety, that the Pon-
lyne Chief had received a present of a musket whilst in atten-
dance on us at Bhamo. Moung Shwd-Yah had urged them
to claim similar consideration and reward as independent
Chiefs who were as powerful if not more so than the Ponlyne
himself. It was not in my power to satisfy them. They
were under evil influences and the musket difficulty was a
mere prelude to further obstructiveness. - At the last moment
they refused their services and prowled about in sneaking
silence taking lists of ourselves and of our baggage and im-
plying or intending to imply thereby that they were measur-
ing our strength and resources with a view to opposition as
soon as we commenced the march into their Hills.
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112. It was long after mid-day therefore before mules
were brought and finally loaded. The arrangements were
that the first day’s march should take us to Ponlyne’s village,
which was said to be not more than 4 koss (or 8 miles) from
Sitkaw. Although therefore the day was already far advanc-
ed, and our arrangements for the journey by no means so effec-
tive as they might have been, the necessity of making a start
was imperative and could not have been delayed without en-
dangering our enterprise. It would have been prejudicial to
every hope of success at this time to have allowed mere con-
siderations of time or distance to stand in our way, when the
. opportunity of an actual advance of any kind had at last be-

come even remotely practicable. '

113. Up to to the last moment I was not sure that se-
cret influences might not yet prevail to cause the desertion of
our mule-men, and make our advance from Sitkaw as remote
and impossible as it had been for a whole month of harassing
in-action within the hated precincts of Bhamo.

- 114. 'The state of my feelings and opinions at this time
is best described by a short entry in my note book which
was jotted down on the morning of 2nd March under pressure
of anxieties and whilst surveying in suspense and impatience
the circumstances of our unfriended and somewhat forlorn
situation.

“ Whatever reasons Burmese Officials may have to dread
our success in re-establishing the old trade route between
Burma and - China, and however much we may congratulate
ourselves on the discomfiture of their present plans of opposi-
tion and distrust, there is nothing encouraging in the admission
that, if this resistance is continued with the same morbid per-
tinacity which has thus far characterized its connectionship
with our undertaking, a very effectual restraint will have been
put on all British commercial enterprise through upper Bur-
ma, as long at least as that country is allowed to be a separate
Kingdom and glories in the excesses of a faithless and effete
Government.” 4

115. But we are all off by 2 p. m. Three Kakhyen
Saubwas lead the way, the mules follow and certain men of
the Police escort are told off to ammunition and cash chest.
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. There was something outrageously wild even to romance
in the manner of our start. The Kakhyens on the contrary from
their point of view might probably have been discussing the
conpleteness of the arrangements, whilst we, in our ignorance
of their peculiarities and in the absence of Interpreters or of
a single Burmese adherent who either possesed the requisite
knowledge himself or dared to volunteer information as to the
correct mode of marching at the head or bringing up the tail of
a Kakhyen convoy, were unable to enforce order ourselves
or to distinguish any sign of arrangement in the irregular
programme of our exodus from Sitkaw.

116. The route lay in a Northerly direction, through
paddy or grassfields for a distance of three miles as far as the
small village of Sehek, from which point the ascent commences
rather abruptly at the base of the Ponlyne hills. We had
here headed our baggage and a temporary halt took place.

The three Kakhyen Chiefs, who had preceeded us from
Sitkaw, were seated by themselves at a point where the road
branched off almost at right angles from the village of Sehek
towards the base of the Ponlyne hills.

They were evidently in deep counsel and much excited,
but as I came up the Ponlyne ran towards me and pointed
out the road up the hill exclaiming at the same time as if to
excuse himself for not leading the advance “ all right! go on
don’t be afraid.”!

117. It puzzled me at first to know what he meant by
the expression “ don’t be afraid ;” for hitherto there had
been no cause to apprehend danger at all.

But on we went, my pony was a good climber and was
a-head. After ascending the hills some two miles a shot was
fired a long way in advance. The mule-men shouted like
fiends and urged me to fire off my guns. I waited until Dr.
Anderson had joined me, a second shot, then four shotsall at
once but no sound of a bullet. Capt. Bowers and Mr. Stewart
came up almost immediately and we went on as if nothing
had occurred. At least 50 of our mules were a-head. The
Kakhyens of our party were many of them in liquor and
though they vociferated frantically they did not exhibit the
slightest sense of fear or misgiving.
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118. One of them was mounted on a mule and became
more dangerous at close quarters as a friend than any number
of our Jungle enemies in the bush. In his excitement he
occasionally flourished a long sword, in reckless disregard of
every thing and every one but himself. —He became a still
more formidable animal when the sword was sheathed and
his matchlock brought into earnest operation. Drunkenness
seemed only to steady his movements, for although the road
was rough and a steep incline in most places, the matchlock
was nevertheless loaded and fired with wonderful precision as
regards time but with utter recklessness as regarded direction.
The man was both friendly and quarrelsome at the same time.
A word or suggestion out of place would have converted him
on the instant into a foe, and the only means of keeping him
in good humour with himself and with us was to praise his
dexterity and promise to renew his exhausted powder-flask as
soon as we arrived at the village of Ponlyne.

119. Soon after the firing commenced Mr. Stewart
picked up a spear which is supposed to have been hurled
against some of our party with hostile intent. But the evi-
dence on this point 1s not very convincing, as it rests solely
on the testimony of a Burmese horse keeper, who said he saw
the spear alight in the ground when first thrown from the
jungle. My belief is that the spear incident, as well as the
shots which were fired in advance of us as we ascended the
first projections of the Ponlyne range, had no real purpose
beyond a mere show of hostility, contrived most probably on
the one hand under Burmese direction with the object of
terrifying us into a return to Bhamo, and assisted on the other
by certain of our own Kakhyen party, who no doubt required
very little pressing in a matter which promised to make them
masters of our baggage and property.

120. But as we are now on the march it is advisable
I think for the sake of more concise elucidation to confine my
narrative for the present to a selection of quotations from my
rough notes and journal.

3rD MARCH 1868.

“Did not reach Ponlyne village until nearly dark last
evening. The Pawmyne conducted us to a Kakhyen house
which had been swept and set apart for our accommodation.

. 6
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The building, like all Kakhyen houses, consists of an
elongated Bamboo shed,the front portion of which is open
and forms a portico in which the live stock of the proprietor
(Pigs, Fowls, Ponies and Buffaloes) are fed by day and
hér%id at night. The remainder of the house is floored with
Bamboos, and is divided longitudinally down the centre, with
transverse partitions on one side only, so as to form rooms or
cells in which the separate members of one or many families
find a habitation. The other side is open throughout and
is used as a general lounge, but the whole exterior of the build-
ing is closely matted in with a single opening or door-way
at the back, through which it is a sin for any one who is not a
member of the family to enter, although egress is allowed
through it to all alike.

Very few of our mules had arrived last night, but there
is a novelty about the scene and occasion which atoned in
some measure for the absence of bed and supper.

- We stroll out and admire Kakhyen women pounding
Paddy by moon-light. An old lady of the party beckoned me
to follow her, and I was conducted, with a thrill of ambiguity
as to results, to a house at a little distance, where I found
Ponlyne himself in the midst of his family.

The old lady  was his wife and I was most hospi-
tably entertained. The Chief made me sit down by him on
his own carpet, and the family attended on us with successive
relays of Kakhyen Beer, a very good substitute for an English
original, provided of course nothing better is to be had.

This morning there is a report that a portion of
our mules and baggage have been looted by the Tahlon Saubwa.
As the day wears on mattersimprove. We find that numbers
of our mule-men, who were supposed at first to have decamped
altogether, had simply herded for the night in small 1\%roupsz
at their own pet halting placesin and around Ponlyne. Missing
baggage turns up most opportunely in various out-of-the-way
localities. ’ ' : _

The Jemadar with the escort arrived at 1 p. »., and re-
ports that he remained for the night in charge of the ammu-
nition and cash chest, at a village somg three miles distant
from Ponlyne: a number of our mules are also congregated
there, with my Chinese Interpreter Moung Shwe yah. The
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Pawmyne of the village, for some unaccountable reason, refus-
ed to let them come on. The Ponlyne Chief has sent his own
son to bring them. When they arrive we shall have lost no-
thing of any consequence. :

The Chiet’s wife has paid us a visit in great state, with
her family and a retinue of female attendants. She brings
presents of geese, boiled rice, eggs, and Kakhyen beer.

She is a fine intelligent matronly looking woman; her
get up is perfect in its way, and though a little outré at first
sight is by no means unbecoming.

The head dress consists of a black cotton scarf which is
wound round the head so as to ascend a foot or more above
it in the shape of an inverted Pyramid. 'The upper garment
i3 a loose black velvet Jacket, ornamanted with large silver
button-embossments which encircle the neck from behind
and are brought forward towards the breast. Circular plates
of chased and enamelled silver, each three inches in diameter,
are arranged in lines down the front seam of the Jacket on
either side and a similar line down the centre of the back and
continued all round the skirt. The lower garment is a single
dark blue cotton cloth about a yard and a half in length,
which passes once round the body from the waist to the
knees, and is fastened in front with a simple tuck. It is
edged with a red woollen border, one end being tastefully
worked with silk embroidery a foot in depth. This at-
tempt at decoration is not lost sight of but dangles on one
side with a captivating effect which is as much a study
amongst the women of the Kakhyen hills as it is the right
and privilege of the female sex every where.

Sounds of Kakhyen music are heard in the distance,
and going in search we arrive at a house full of men women
and children, who are dancing vigorously to a rattling accom-
paniment of gongs and sticks, played by themselves. They
do no not object to our presence, and Anderson and I
enter the house and take an active part in the festive
proceedings. The dance is a measured side step with side
movement, crab-fashion. We go round in our proper places
and are enjoying a certain wild novelty in the arrangements,
when suddenly the male dancers become more than usually
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excited and rush madly out of the house like demons. We
remain inside with the women.

The scene of rejoicing has turned into one of mourning
and lamentation. Two of the women retire and cry piteously
over the corpse of a child which has been carefully concealed
in an out of the way corner of a side apartment. Horribile
dictu! We too have joined in the death dance, and contri-
buted our aid in the propitiation of Nats and in driving
away from its late tenement the hovering spirit of the
departed! Other women bring us logs of wood to be used
as stools and we sit down for a time, whilst our hosts hand
round Kakhyen Beer in conical cups of plantain leaves, which
have been ingeniously improvised for our especial benefit.

If our object is to familiarize ourselves with Kakhyen
manners and customs we shall soon become proficients with

. avengeance ! We paid our footing in Rupees and left the

house with feelings not altogether unpleasurable, but shadow-
ed perhaps by a tinge of sadness and a sense that death
dances do not add to the personal dignity or moral elevation.
of European adventurers who have uncopsciously indulged
in them 1n the wilds of Kakhyen land, ’/T?lz Saubwa’s wife

"has come again with her Suite whilst we are at dinner,

and brings more fresh brewed beer.

A number of our muleteers also congregate round us,
and are inclined to be rude and even insolent but quiet
down when properly spoken to.

They ask whether our Country is a hot or cold one:
¢ Cold,”

¢ Oh that is why you are good people like ourselves! but
“you must pay well as you go along and there will be no
“difficulty. There are three Chiefs who have still to be
“ conciliated one ot them is your friend but two promise to
¢ oppose you. We cannot mention names,”

Atn MarcH 1868.

The cash chest arrived at 12 o’clock mid-day. The
mule-men have commenced to filtch out of our cases in earnest.
They are considerate too in some respects. In one of
Stewart’s cases they discovered a bottle of Port wine and got
at it’s contents by pushing in the cork, but the liquor proving
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unpalatable they made a wooden cork and replaced the bottle
in its original place, with a very innocent and laudable desire
to prevent waste.

I have assembled the Chiefs and Ponlyne to day and
made them all suitable presents of cloths &e.

The Ponlyne makes a speech and exhorts all to faithful
service.

He informed me however privately that the Nats look
unfavorably upon us and will require propitiation. This
communication was followed during the evening by an
announcement that he was about to consult the spirits of good
and evil, and obtain their consent or dissent to a continuance
of our journey on the morrow. 1 am invited to attend.

. This implies another demand for Rupees. We proceed
to the Saubwa’s new house. The Kakhyen Priest ( Meetway)
separates himself from the rest of his companions and occupies
a dark corner at one end of the house. Here he crouches down
and works himself into a fury of attitudinizing, strokes his
head and face with both hands, tears his hair, sighs, moans,
groans and finally his legs from the knee downwards quiver
with a reverberation which repeats itself on the bamboo
flooring with a sharp castanet commotion of sound which
is kept up throughout the ceremony. 'We now know that the
man is possessed and beyond self control. His utterances are
henceforth those of Demons and Nats. There is anger and
fury in his voice.

The Chief whispers and asks me if I have brought a
propitiation. I am prepared for the worst: but bargain to
be let off for 15 Rupees.

The money is laid on a new cloth and offered on a
platter of plantain leaves, but in a moment platter and
Rupees are kicked to a distance in scorn. The Chief approach-
es with reverence and supplication and begs that the offering
may not be rejected. No reply, but deeper groans and more
piercing shrieks. I am appealed to and add five Rupees to
the offering which now finds favor and is duly brought to
account. Benedictions follow and all that is good is pregnos-
ticated in our future travels.
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The effect of all this would be ludicrous and uninteresting
in the extreme were it not for the reverence and devotional
earnestness with which the Chiefs and people regard the cer-
emonial from begining to end. There is no doubt that their
faith is firmly bound up in the prognostications for good or -
evil which emanate from the being who, to their ideas, becomes
thus miraculously inspired or possessed.

No work of importance or even necessity is ever underta-
ken without his approval, or rather the approval of the
minor Deities who speak through him.

But the respect and dignity due to his office ceasc with
the moment of inspiration. When unpossessed the Meetway
sinks into the common-place reality of an ordinary Kakhyen
layman. The man to whom Chiefs bent in reverence, and
upon whom perhaps the fate of the expedition principally
depended whilst under spiritual influence in the recent cere-
monial, was in ordinary life a common labourer, and carried
one of my boxes on the march from Sitkaw to Ponlyne.

The embryo Meetway in early life, or as soon as he
begins to evince evident signs of a connectionship with the
world of spirits, is subjected to an infallible test, which passes
him at once into the recognized status of a full blown Ka-
khyen Priest.

The test is simple but awkward: a ladder is provided
(the steps of which consist of sword blades with the sharp
edge turned upwards) and leads on to a small platform which
is thick-set with the sharpest spikes. The Novitiate takes
his degree and becomes forthwith ordained to the office of a
Kakhyen Meetway by climbing this ladder and seating him-
self upon the spikeg platform, not only without personal
incohvenience to his nether parts at the time, but with free-
dom from all after traces of visible or apparent injury.

The faculty of becoming possessed has thus been proved,
and whether such faculty has any real existence beyond mere
momentary phrensy and excitement it is certain that the
Meetway becomes a recognized medium, and possesses a kind -
of inspiration which for want of peculiar training perhaps,
our limited ideas fail either to conceive or comprehend.

After the ceremony the Ponlyne spoke to me in confi-
dence and said that if I wished to succeed in my travels no
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help would be so powerful as a large expenditure of the
precious metal. .

He says that the Shans and Kakhyengalays have frater-
nized for the purpose of opposing us, and that conciliation will
be a difficult matter in the face ot all the evil reports which
have already been circulated with the avowed object of put-
ting an end to the expedition.

5TH MarcH 1868.

Up at duy light.—The mule-men come early and ask for
their loads. We are prepared to start but now comes the
inevitable hitch. The Saubwa (Ponlyne) will not shew himself.

I am told he is asleep or at breakfast but in reality he
has assumed a fit of Diplomatic Sulks, and obstinately refuses
to leave his house or afford explanation.

I understand the indisposition and go to him. More
Rupees ! This system of silent extortion is ruinous. Itisa
repetition of last night's story.

“ Unless you are prepared to pay well you had better go
“back.”

Rupees 600 are demanded and 1 pay down 300 which
are accepted. I had already given him and his wife rich
cloths and carpets as well as a flint musket, a valuable
present in itself. The Rupees 300 now given are intended as
a further advance to the mule-men who had already received
Rupees 500 before we left Sitkaw. '

It is far more probable I think that the money will find
its way into the Chief’s own private hoard.

The cash chest is another difficulty. Rupeces 300 are de-
manded as the sum to be paid for its conveyance as far as
Manwyne.

I offer one Rupee each per diem to 20 men as long as
they are employed.

- No.

. Then I must break up the chest altogether. This in-
volves delay. If the money is distributed and placed in our
boxes they will of a certainty be looted.

We eventually count it out in allotments of Rs. 300 each
to be carried alternately by men of the Police escort.
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. Did not get off till half past nine. Our route to-day
lay along the valley of the Tahpen. The view now and then
is glorious. On either side hills tower up into mountains and
range after range succeed each other indefinitely till lost in
the blue distance.

Ponlyne itself (the village) is about 2,500 feet above
sea level. The immediate descent from Ponlyne to the bed
of the Nambouk river is steep and difficult for a distance of
about three miles ; but the next four miles is occupied in
crossing a succession of lofty spurs which abut into the valley
from the main ranges.

Kakhyens keep to the high ground as much as possible,
and their roads seem to be purposely designed with a view
to reaching the most elevated points on any given route. My
theory is that the first trace is made in ignorance of locality,
and that high points are selected as places from which to look
out and espy a way to any desired destination.

The track once made may be any thing but a direct
route ; but it serves as a guide and is perhaps rigidly adhered
to ever after. The Tahpen river is constantly in sight. At
times we descend nearly to its bed and anon it is roaring two
. thousand feet below us. It is a broad rapid torrent, or rather
a continuation of rapids down which the water rushes with un-
ceasing roar and with a force which nothing could withstand,
if we except prodigious boulders of granite, which lie occa-
sionally across its bed, or hang suspended on its immediate
banks with an inclination which,suggests a gradual but in-
evitable downfall. .

Halted at 2 p. m.—The mules are fagged and cannot go
further although “the wheel ” has only registered eight miles
in six hours !

I have no faith in “the wheel” over this kind of ground.

The “ wheeler ” is obliged to carry it over a great portion
of the road, which remains accordingly unregistered or unac-
counted for.

We encamp in the Jungle and call the spot Lakhon which

is the name of the largest range of hills 1n our immediate
vicinity. :
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6tH MARrcH 1868.

The Ponlyne Saubwa says that we must proceed with
caution to-day as the Ponsee Saubwa is offended with me for
not having presented him with a Musket.

The Kakhyen Deities had spoken, he said, through the
Meetway and ordered us always on commencing a march to
fire a volley.

He inserted a slight amendment however to, the effect
that double charges of powder were advisable, so as to make
as great a report as possible. S

Started from Lakhon at 8-45 A. M., and reached Ponsee
village at 11-30.; the wheel only registering four miles.
Road comparatively easy and good the whole way.

The Ponsee Saubwa has not provided us with accommo-
dation, and we encamp in a hollow at the foot of the village.

A Pawmyne with his wife and female relatives paid us
a visit this evening with presents of Beer and vegetables.
One of the young women was inclined to be merry and com-
municative in the hope of attracting attention and securing
Beads. Her hair was cut straight across the forehead ( a more -
wrginorum) and allowed to hang down mop-fashion behind.

She was married nevertheless, although the Puggery or
head dress which Kakhyen married women ought by right to
wear was absent. I offered to supply the deficiency, and raised
a burst of modest merriment which took the Pawmyne quite
by surprise. He reproved the levity of his young relative
and evinced dislike to innocent flirtations.

One of my Burmese followers was struck this evening
by a Kakhyen in the employ of the Ponsee Chief.

Ponlyne interfered and said that he would resent an
insult offered to any of my people as if offered to himself.
He has shewn himself our friend thus far, but it would suit
the reduced state of my finances better if he was less covetous
and exacting in his pecuniary requirements.

7
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7rH MaRrcH 1868.

The Ponlyne Saubwa has come to me early this morning
to say that a small Army of Shans and Kakhyens have collect--
ed on the road we intend proceeding by and threaten opposi-
tion. He thinks they may be bought over for Rupees 2,000 !

I do not mince matters, but say at once that I must.
give up all idea of proceeding further unless Ponlyne can let
me off at a cheaper rate of black mail than that which he now
advises.

It i8 necessary to be particular on this point, for I have
already been twice asked since we ascended the hills what
pecuniary arrangements I had made for our return journey
Homewards. '

The Ponlyne rather significantly remarks that the
Panthays have lots of money and will be glad to accommodate
me. :

This is another instance of an unvarying belief in our
connectionship with the Panthay cause ; and our determina-
tion to assist it to the exclusion and confusion of all other
interests in Yunan.

But a more serious difficulty is at hand, and threatens
to be ar obstacle to our further progress, at all events for some
days to come.

Our Muleteers, without a word of complaint or even
misunderstanding, have suddenly struck work and I see them
streaming out of camp with their animals and empty panniers.
I appeal to the Saubwa (Ponlyne) but he merely sends back
word to say— All right ; let them go they will come back
by and by.”

He will not come to me so I go and find him seated inthe
Ponsee Saubwa’s house, in as complacent and collected a state
of mind (though in liquor) as if nothing particular had occur-
red. '

The Muleteers, he informs me, have left on account of
private messages which have been conveyed to them from
the Saubwas of Sanda and Mynela, who threaten death and
extermination if they afford us the means of entering the
Shan states.
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Ponlyne advises me to write to these Shan Chiefs and
warn them that if they object to my visiting the Shan States
we too will close the roads leading towards Burma and prev-
ent Shans from attending the annual fairs at Bhamo.

I stop him rather rudely by saying that my object is to
conciliate strife rather than foment new causes of misunder-

standing.

I have no objection I add to write to the Shan Chiefs
in the same friendly and explanatory sense in which I have
lately addressed the Governor of Momein.

Ponlyne becomes very communicative in his cups and
volunteers to tell me the truth about my Chinese Interpreter
Moung Shwe Yah, who is accused of having deserted us at
Ponlyne (village) as soon as he found that he could not suc-
ceed in making the Kakhyen Chiefs take part against the
expedition. ‘

His advice all along had been to murder me at a conve-
nient season, and take possession of the cash chest and other
Government presents of which I had charge.

This story is not improbable (in vino veritas) and bears
out my own suspicions. Shwe Yah had behaved like a vil-
lain ever sinee we left Bhamo and even there I began to sus-
pect him. It was on this account that I did not take him
‘mto my confidence in despatching letters. to Momein.

His private efforts to thwart and confound my plans
having failed at Bhamo, he bethought him of the dastardly
éxpedient of robbery and bloodshed, (so Ponlyne says) but
in this too he missed his mark, and, fearing exposure, chose
rather to return in confusion to Bhamo than let it be supposed
by the Burmese Government that after all he might have
been secretly aiding in the fulfilment of our undertaking.
This is Ponlyne’s opinion and it agrees in all respects with
my own observations.

So much for a man who was specially told off to our
assistance by the King of Burma.
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Ponlyne informs me that the Chief of Saray, who occu-
pies the next range of Hills in our advance, has been sent for
and refuses to come in. It is out of the queslion, he says, to
think of moving without his previous sanction.

Political Agent.—Very true but provided we get sanc-
tion what about mules for our baggage.

Ponlyne—1 have a few mules of my own. We will
take what baggage we can with them and send back for the
remainder.

Ponlyne is inconsistent. The mule difficulty may turn
out after all to be a ruse of his own for the purpose of cover-
ing another extortionate demand.

It is whispered in private quarters that the muleteers
left hecause they objected to being kept in inaction with their
animals.

They were willing, it was said, to take on our baggage and
did not fear Shan threats of extermination, but it was unrea-
sonable to expect them to remain at Ponsee after their stock
of provisions had been consumed and when they found that
they were being uselessly detained with the sole object of
serving Kakhyen purposes.

Rumour is very conflicting but it would have been dan-
gerous to move without the Saubwa’s concurrence or contrary
to his advice.

I do not agree with Sir Samuel Baker in the pleasure
he finds at being in a downright difficulty.

This is now my position and 1 should regret it the less
on my own account were it not for the incubus of responsibi-
lity to others, and, in a more remote degree, to my own Go-
vernment. We have impatient spirits too amongst our number.
A has boils—B is not in good spirits—C. is silent and anxious
—D. is jolly under all circumstances, and regards difficulties
as things to be overcome rather than g-::;rowlt‘:ga at In lanquid
inactivity.

The sky above is gloomy and overcast, clouds pregnant
with rain threaten a discharge which will damp the little
ardour or Romance that might otherwise attach itself to a
residence on the far famed Kakhyen Hills at Ponsee.
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We are now encamped on the upper terrace of a tumulus
shaped hill, which has been cultivated to its base in a succes-
sion of terraces, g'enerall%h regular and equidistant in their
gradations of descent. e camp consists of three small se-
poys palls or tents, which are sufficient to %ive cover to the
Europeans of our Party. The escort and followers are busy
hutting themselves on the several ridges which surround the
encampment. There is little to grumble at beyond the anxie-
ties of delay and our own impatient eagerness to be again on
the move.

Ponlyne has just came into camp and sits himself down
in my tent. He 18 in liquor, but seizing me by both hands
swears fidelity and friendship. I fire off my guns and revolvers
at his request. The bullets will not hit a particular bamboo
which is an eyesore to him in his drunkenness. He becomes
a savage instanter and abuses me in [foul Burmese. Forbear-
ance is necessary otherwise he is sure to commit himself to
some reckless act of violence. I quiet him down by degrees,
and he assumes his old show of friendly familiarity. But the
animal is not to be trusted. He is true to his savage instincts
and treachery underlies every look and action.

The chiefs of Ponwa, Nyoungen, and Wacheoon have
came in with small presents, for which I make a suitable
return in cloths. They occupy separate Hill tracts on the
route between this place and the Shan town of of Manwyne.

The Ponsee Saubwa’s mother called during the afternoon
with a number of female attendants. They are bearers of
Kakhyen delicacies. Beer, cooked rice, eggs, and vegetables.
I made a general distribution of Beads, but they beg for Ru-
pees which are in greater demand, I find, and more accepta-
ble in these parts than any other presentable commodity ; so
much for Burman duplicity or ignorance which made 1t ap-
- pear that coined silver would not pass current or be accepted

as an article of exchange when once we had left the vicinity
of Bhamo,

Ponlyne tells me, with a look of serious reality, to make
up my mind to the payment of two baskets (Bushels) of
Rupees before I quit Ponsee.
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8tTH MaRcH 1868.

It rained heavily all last night; the single fly tents afford
but a poor protection against either wind or rain ; so violent
were the gusts of wind it became necessary to hold on to the
Poles to prevent the tents being blown away altogether. As
the wind abated I got snatches of sleep, but in the absence of a
bed my mattress, which was on the ground, had bcome clammy
and wet ; we are better off after all than some of our followers
who are without shelter of any sort.

I have just heard of the arrival of the Nanlyaw Tamon,
with written orders from the Governor of Bhamo directing
both the Chiefs of Ponlyne and Ponsee to return forthwith
to Bhamo, for consultation on the subject of the Ponsee silver
mines. -

This is mysterious! What reason is there for such urgent
haste in ordering the immediate return of these chiefs, whilst
it is known that they are our only guarantee of protection in
these wild unknown regions? The pretence too for requiring
their services at this particular juncture is palpably and ridi-
culously false. The Ponsee silver mines have been worked for
many years past by Burmese and Chinese, and their condition
- and circumstances are already well known.

I suspect this Nanlyaw official. He is always selected
when dirty work has to be done. He denies now that orders
were ever given to him to accompany me on the present ex-
pedition. Yesterday I was informed that five houses had been
accidentally burned by a jungle fire which is said to have
originated at our last encamping ground. I was in no way held
responsible and the matter was satisfactorily settled for a
bottle of whiskey. To-day(since the Burman official’s arrival)
a serious demand is made for 300 Rupees. The Tamon -chuckles.
He knows that the demand is false and will be resisted, but
this is just what he wants, as it affords a pretext for our
detention until a compromise of some sort can be effected.
I am afraid to yield to this claim, as compliance to-day would
lead to double demands to-morrow, or be supplemented, with-
out loss of time, by other equally false and unjust means of
extortion. ‘
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The Saubwa refuses a epmpromise and predicts diffi-
culties. e begins to find eut that I am not to be squeezed
to the extept he at first imagined, and talks about returni
to Bhameo and Jeaving only his Pawmynes with me.
remonstrate but he says the Governor’s orders are imperative
and that he cannot afford to disobey them &c., &c.,

9tH MarcH 1868.

The Ponlyne Saubwa is both sulky and angry. He has
become really obstructive and insolent since the arrival of the
Nanlyaw Tamon with orders from Bhamo. I am given dis-
tinctly to understand that unless I at once pay down 600
Rupees as black mail and 300 Rupees as compensation for
the village fire he will no longer be answerable for our safety,
but return forthwith to his native village. .

Of course he knows that I cannot and will not pay. He
will thus have a ready excuse for breaking off connectionship
with us, and absolve himself from the danger of open rupture
with the Burmese Government for having thus far contrib-
uted to our advance.

I argue at length against the unreasonable nature of the -
demands now made and conclude my interview in the follow-
ing strain.

“The village fire did not originate with me any more
“then it did with you. The houses which are said to have
“been burnt lay at a very considerable distance from our line
“ of march. I do not believe that our march had anything to
“ do with their destruction, further perhaps than the simple
“idea that any evil which takes place at present will be
“connected in the Kakhyen mind with our presence in
“their hills and be ascribed to us accordingly. Having
“come as a friend it is far from my wish to.offend against
“ Kakhyen scruples or custom. I will pay all reasonable
“demands and am even willing to make reparation in the
“present case to the full extent of the damage done. But
“ if the Kakhyens wish us to be their friends they must
“deal fairly and believe that we will do the same by them.
“ Neither can I pay you the 600 Rupees which you have just
,, asked for, but 1 agree to send on valuable presents
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““to the chiefs through whose territories we are to pass,
“and will pay them the customary dues as soon as we
“arrive at their respective places of residence. I shall regret
“ your departure very much, for on some occasions you have
“been a true friend to us. It is not in my power either to
“detain you by force, but remember that you are under an
“engagement to conduct tho expedition in safety as far as
“ Manwyne, and although the Governor of Bhamo has sent
“ (with what intent I cannot say) and ordered your immediate
“return, I still beg of you to remain and rely upon my assur-
““ances of support against any oppressive acts to which the
“ Governor may try and subject you as a consequence of your
“ compliance.”

This speech had its effect, the Saubwa did not again
allude to his intention of leaving me, but simply asked for 100
Rupees as a means of settling the village fire dispute. This
I agreed to pay partly in money and partly in cloths.

It was at this stage of our interview that I was suddenly
made aware of the presence of three men dressed up in all
the wonderful apparel of Chinese Officers of Rank.

I knew their faces at once and they recognized me; but
beyond this I was as much mystified as Ponlyne himself in
trying to imagine who the men were; and how I could ever .
before have held communication with Chinese officers of
their stamp and appearance.

The mystery is soon solved, Lanboo strips off a portion of
his trappings and discloses himself as the Kakhyen scout whom
I sent from Bhamo with letters to Momein. He takes from
his waist a small bundle, which, when unrolled, reveals a
letter and envelope of prodigious dimensions, scored over with
Chinese superscriptions and a variety of Chinese seals in red
and blue devices. Ponlyne is silent and uneasy. He is
seized with anything but pleasurable feelings at the style of
the newcomers, and -appears hurt at their friendly recogni-
tion of all our party without a word of explanation or ac-
knowledgement in recognition of his own presence and au-
thority.

The envelope contains two letters, one in Chinese the
other in Arabic. Our native Doctor is able to interpret a
portion of the latter very imperfectly. The Chinese epistle
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cannot be read for the present but Laulee explains its con-
tents as favorable and in the highest degree encouraging.

The Governor of Momein, he said, expected us by the
central or Ambassador’s route ( which leads direct from Bha-
‘mo into the Shan State of Hotha,) and had arranged accord-
ingly to assist and cooperate with us on the march.

I am advised not to advance for the present vid Man-
wyne, unless we are strong enough to fight our way through
the Blockade established by Lees-hee-ta-hee at Mauphoo.

The Governor of Momein received my Kakhyen scouts
with every mark of friendly respect, and has sent them back
as an Embassy in the costly dresses which have just eontri-
buted to our amusement andsurprise. Faeh man has a silk
cap of blue satin embroidered with gold, a thick padded
superfine cloth jacket highly ornamented, a long silk coat
and Chinese gold embroideredy shoes. ‘They are Kakhyens of
. the Rowlee tribe and carry their new honors with wonderful

self composure. Altogether seven men have come in frem
‘Momein, one of them, Shatoodoo, is a ( Kakhyen ) Panthay
Officer of some rank and recommends himself to our notice
by a display of good breeding and gentlemanly atfainments
which are far in advance of any preconceived ideas of semi-
barbarous civilization.

The arrival of letters from Memein and the manner of
‘their delivery by our own messengers, who had met with so
much favor at Panthay Head Quarters, is an event in the
fate of the expedition which not only promises well for the
future but is pregnant also with encouraging influeices in our
present emergencies &c. &g, :

- The Shans of Manwyne are coming in and establishing
a small bazaar in our lines: rice is selling at 8 measures for
the Rupee. Yesterday it was only three ; an empty bottle
was bartered for fourteen to-day and attained therefore to
an estimated money value of nearly two Rupees.

But when gain or game ofters Kakhyens are insolently
exacting on their own Hills, and openly persecute our
Shan * bazaarmen with an overbearing amount of injustice
which is ridiculously irritating to unpracticed observers.

8
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The Shans are too mild or too much afraid to retaliate.
They will either forsake us or the Bazaar prices must rise
considerably, so as to cover extraordinary loss caused by
Kakhyen excesses. It is out of my power to interfere much
with the customary rapacity of these Kakhyen Hill tribes.
Other considerations are too pressing just at present to justify
the risk of dispute on points which, though they sadly try
our power of endurance, are not so absolutely urgent as to
require an immediate remedy.

10TH MaRrcH 1868.

Ponlyne is savage with my Kakhyen scouts for having
handed me letters from Momein direct, without previous
consultation with himself. I cannot afford to make ad-
vances to him or try other means of conciliation as long as
he remains in his present temper, otherwise he will at once
fancy himself in the ascendant and fall back upon the old de-
mand for Rupees 600.

The Nanlyaw Tamon has gone off to Bhamo without
leave or intimation of his intentions. Ponlyne assured him
in my presence yesterday that his villainy had become noto-
rious and that I had found him out. He was undoubtedly
sent here as a fit agent to add, if possible, to our difficulties
and has returned in haste to Bhamo to report the arrival of let-
ters from Momein.

It is now an undeniable fact that this said Tamon incited
the Kakhyens to re-open the village fire question after it had
once been settled. We cannot blame the Kakhyens for hav-
ing become unruly and extortionate when they thus found
themselves backed up. by powerful Burmese influences at
Bhamo.

But under all circumstances it is desirable to show that
we are not over anxious or disconcerted at the unavoidable
detention at Ponsee. I therefore send to tell the Ponlyne,
with feigned unconcern, that having made up my mind to an
indefinite stay on the Kakhyen Hills it is as well that we
should pass the time pleasantly, and I am in favour therefore
of an excursion to the silver mines on the opposite bank of
the River, if he will accompany me or supply guides. He is
astonishedbut not out witted. His message was “wait a little
and I will come and see you.” ’
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That is all I wanted, as, combined with Wh1skey, it will
afford the means of a temporary reconciliation.

11TH Marcu 1868.

A few mules belonging to Ponlyne, which had been
kept in reserve for a start as far as Saray if all other supplies
failed, have left Camp this morning.

The Saubwa presented himself shortly afterwards look-
ing very foolish. He asked with an assumed air of effrontery
and in a taking-the-Bull-by-the-Horns-style.

“What I intend to do?”
“How did I intend to get on? &ec., &c., &c.”

I replied by a ferocious Tu quoque placing as much, em-
phasis as possible on the 7%. How, I asked, did he reconcile
the unnecessary delay here with the promises of safe conduct
as far as Manwyne.  Of what avail was it to make the village
fire a pretence for opposition when it was patent to all that
our mules had been taken away with his knowledge and ap-

roval, and that the possibilities of our further advance had
geen effectually destroyed (for a time at least) without any
reference to the fire question at all?

Ponlyne was at last hard up for a reply but fell back as
usual on his old craving demand for Rupees. You must pay
me down 900 Rupees at once or I cannot undertake to assist
you further ; of this sum I will pay Rupees 300 towards the
village fire and send 600 for distribution amongst the Chiefs
in our advance.

I firmly refuse both demands. Ferst because 1 have not
the funds to spare; secondly I know that the money if paid
will be simply appropriated by Ponlyne to his own uses; and
thirdly 1 feel certain that a compliance with unjust exactions
of this kind, without assisting our advance, will give me so no-
torious a reputatlon amongst Kakhyens as a fit subject for
squeezing that other unjust demands will be made and pressed
with an urgency which must lead either to riot,insolvency, or
inevitable failure, &ec., &c., &ec.
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124 MarcH 1868.

Money difficulties do not cease, but the Kakhyens are
pleased at hearing that I regard their love for Rupees as a
good omen in our future dealings and intercourse.

Hitherto we have all beheved, I said, that a few Beads or
pieces of Redcloth were more precious in their sight than any
. amount of silver and gold. Had I understood their real
wants before I left Mandalay I might have provided myself
with money in abundance, and more than satisfied allreason-
able demands. It was my wish I added and the wish of the
Government I served to give freely and concede liberally to
the wants of a new people whom we wished to reconcile as
friends rather than irritate into enemies by resisting any de-
mand which had the slightest semblance even of reason or
justice. But however liberally inclined they niight rest as-
sured that I would never yield to pressure, when once con-
vinced that the demands imade were neither reasonable in
themselves or consistant with justice. Even now, in reference
to the village fire, it was not my intention to act in opposition
to the advice of those Chiefs who had asked me to award
suitable compensation, although I was still of opinion that-
the demands made were exorbitant, and that the origin of
the fire could not be justly set down to me at all. :

The Ponlyne retired for a short time to consult with
other chiefs and afterwards came to tell me that 100 Rupees
had been agreed upon as a sufficient sum to cover all losses
and allay further dispute.

The money was then and there paid and accepted, but
returned the next evening withan insolent intimation to the
following effect.

* “Pay the original demand or stand the consequences!” -

There is mischief in all this; and if I could spare the mo--
ney I would pay up at once and defeat one of the schemes -of
our Burmese oppositionists. As it is Iam obliged to appear un-
concerned ; and having done all that reasonably lay in my-
power, with the approval of the chiefs, to cometoa settlement,
mixtters under this head must now be left to take care of them--
selves,
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Yesterday I despatched messengers with presents and.
letters to the chiefs of Saray and Poogens or headmen of
Manwyne and Manhleo. Ponlyne not only advised this course
but taok part in it by despatching two of his own Pawmynes
with my messengers &e. &c.

. Ponlyne is sober to-day and makes some shrewd obser-
vations as follows—The only effectual means by which the
old trade can be revived between Burma and China depends-
upon a reconciliation of Chinesz and Panthay interests in Yu-
nan. He asks me to concentrate all my best efforts towards this
one point in preference to all others.

He also begged I would speak well of him to the chiefs
of the Shan States ; and dispel any evil effects arising out of
an impression that he was alone to blame for having conducted
the British expedition so far on its journey.

I said that the English and all other Governments which
had any interest in our present undertaking would owe
Ponlyne a debt of gratitude if he faithfully carried out the

- promise which had bound him to our service at Bhamo.

" He was flattered by this and other allusions to his per-
sonal merits, and informed me openly without any reserve
that he was giving us his assistance at the present time
in direct opposition to the wishes and injunctions of the
Burmese Governor. The Tamon of Nanlyaw (the official
who conveyed to him certain messages and letters from
Bhamo) had not ceased, he said, from the time of his arrival
to the time of his departure, to persuade and even order him
in the name of the Governor to desert the Expedition and
return with the Ponsee Saubwa to Bhamo: all that Burmans
desired, he said, was that we might be lost or made away with
so effectually as to prevent the possibility of our return to
Burmese Territory.

- I felt convinced, from the earnestness with which the.
Chief spoke and from my own general observation of facts,
that he had in no way exaggerated the tenor of the instruc-
tions conveyed to him in the letters or messages from the
Burmese Officials at Bhamo.

 Those letters however were not forthcoming. They
were only shewn to him, he said, and retained by the officials
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who brought them. He laughs at the shallowness of the
pretext for requiring his return to Bhamo, and alludes to it
only as another proof of the unscrupulous action of the

Burmese Government in its endeavour to frustrate our pur-
poses and progress.

He adds‘“ you did wrong Ayeybyne in sending your
“Burmese clerk with the letters and presents to Manwyne.
“Dont you know that all Burmans have been against you
“from the first? Even your own Burmese servants are not
“to be trusted, as it is in their power to work infinite mischief
“by misrepresentations which may seriously retard your
“ further advance.” L

- The Burman clerk was sent by me as a check on the
Kakhyen Pawmynes,who would otherwise have helped them-
selves to the presents and made distribution of them as they
pleased without reference either to justice or my wishes.

I note the circumstance in my diary because Ponlyne’s
remarks are” an apt illustration of the readiness with which
even Kakhyen instincts have grasped and are able to ac-
count for the petty designs of our obstructive Burmese
associates at Bhamo.

14TH MARrCH 1868.

The Messengers who were despatched with presents to
Manwyne returned today and report that none of the presents
have been accepted. The chiefs are not hostile, but they
have been induced by evil report to'doubt the character
and intentions of the Expedition: I am advised by them to
put myself in direct communication with the Shan Saubwa of
Sanda.

The Saray Saubwa too has arrived, and called upon me
to-day with a large following of Pawmynes and other
Kakhyen attendants. He is respectable in manner and
address, and sensible in his remarks when he makes any, but
his curiosity in all our foreign appurtenances, guns,dress,
saddlery and general equipment is too great for the present
to admit of ordinary attention being given to mere matters
of business ! :

S Ayeybyne—My Burmese title,
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- The Ponlyne is present and has altered his tone again
to one of downright hostility. This is a sample of his delight-
ful conversation. ~

“What do you intend to do now Ayeybyne? all are
“against you, you cannot go back and the Shans will not
“allow you to go forward. You must listen to me and
“pay 500 Rupees on account of the fire and 600 Rupees
“ to be distributed as I like in presents, I speak ffor your
“ good. Shans Burmese and Chinese are all leagued against
“you. For one man who would dare to assist you there
‘“ are hundreds who are ready to cut off your head. (Here
“he suited the action to the word by holding an ima-
“ginary head by imaginary hair in his left hand, and drawin
“his right hand backwards and forwardswith a sawing motion
“at an imaginary neck.)

My reply is that I do not believe that the Chinese and
Shans are against us.

The Chinese petty traders of Mandalay and Bhamo do
not certainly wish us well ; because they are afraid our suc-

cess as an expedition will interfere with their own profits and
livelihood.

The Shans will be our friends as soon as I can make
them comprehend the true objects of our mission : all will yet
find that we are present amongst them as friends, however

much they may now fancy that we are separated by race
religion, or national interests. ’

Ponlyne “ True ; The Big Chinese are not acaj
“ but it will be difficult to overc%me all the evil whiﬁl ];ls:n)zr::s’;
“ and Chinamen of Bhamo have done by misrepresentation ;and
“ more especially by making it so apparent that the Burmese
“ Government 1s. against you. Why did the Shans send
“ back your presents? They are ready to oppose you if you
“go on. Lees-hee-ta-hee has received letters from Bhamo and
“1s determined to stop you. You ought to have given me
“ the money I asked for. The Panthays may be your friends ;
“ but Lees-hec-ta-hee is very powerful,and is not only guided b):
‘“ Burmese advice, but receives supplies in money and arms
“from Bhamo. He visits that town sometimes, and his
“ mother resides there. The Panthays are his cnemies ;- but
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“ heis strong enough to be independent and to altogether
- disregard them.”

The Saray Saubwa listened to this conversation with
reat attention ; but as I spoke to Ponlyne in Burmese, he
could only understand a portion of what was said.

The village fire question was again brought up. My
object ' was to let the Saray Saubwa see that I had acted
throughout in this matter in fairness and with reason.

He said that if I would come \uckg to a settlement
in this matter, he would conduct me by a direct Hill Route to

Momein, without any necessity for entering Manwyne or the
Sanda Shan States.

I said that the affair had already been set't}ed three times
with the approval of the Ponlyne and Ponsee Chiefs. The
villagers were satisfied themselves, and only feigned disaffec-
" tion because they were under Burmese influences. The. Pon-

lyne Saubwa hag already made me pay him 480 Rupees on ac-
count of mule hire; and not a fraction of that sum had been
honestly distributed. ‘What security was there now if I paid
the present demand that other claims of the same kind would
not at once be urged against me?

The chiefs all leave, but make their appearance again in
full force at 7 p. m. The Ponlyne is spokesman. He com-
mences by insisting on the payment of the balance of mule-hire
from Sitkaw to Manwyne.

. Yes, I say. Ifyou will take me on to Manwyne accord-
ing to my -original agreement I am willing to pay this ba-
lance, although the Mule-men of opr party have forfeited all
honest claims by desertion and breach of comtract.

The sum of 900 Rupees, which I have already paid in
hard cash,is far in excess of the usual rates,and had the money
actually reached the pockets of the Mule-men they would be
more than compensated for their labours,

The conversation was then carried on as follows:—

Politrcal Agent.—Where are the Mule-men? whom sha.ll
I pay the money to? Will you hold to your engagement of
taking me to Manwyne if I do pay?
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Ponlyne.—Dont talk of Manwyne; you cannot go there:
Political Agent.—Then why did you promise to take me
there?

Ponlyne.—The Manhleo Poogen is your enemy and his
people have conspired to murder you all. :

Political Agent.—We are not ﬁ{a‘iﬂ Y

' Ponlyne.—(Angrily) dont be afiaid ;' but listen to me—you
know as well as I do that Burmans, Chinese, and Shans are
at present opposed to your proceeding.

Political Agent.—1 am proceeding under the patronage
and protection of the Burmese Government and have a Royal -
proclamation in my pocket to that effect.

Ponlyne.—(Angrily and in derision at my apparent want
of gumption). True; but you know that the Burmese Gov-
ernment never intended that you should profit by it. We have
all been secretly ordered to oppose you by every means; even
to the extent of murder or assassination if other means failed
to deter you from proceeding beyond Burmese Territory. I
have remained your friend throughout. Three written sum-
monses have reached me since I left Sitkaw to desert you and
return to Bhamo.

Political Agent.—The Bhamo Governor cannot reasonably
expect you to return until your duties are first fulfilled to
the expedition.

Ponlyne.——Yes ; the orders are to return at once. Your
Burmese clerk has seen them. I have taken care to keep the
last letter and will shew it to you.—( Diary ends ).

120—(a). This written order was sent to me the same
day by Ponlyne and after I had convinced myself that
it was a genuine document—that it bore the seal of the Gov-
ernor of Bhamo—and that it really did contain an order to the
Kakhyen Chiefs to desert the expedition, and proceed them-
selves without delay to Bhamo; I delivered it tomy Burmese
clerk and directed him not to return it to Ponlyne without
my express orders. My intention was to have obtained Pon-
lyne’s permission to retain the document and exhibit it at
some future time as one of the proofs of unfair dealing on
the part of the Burmese Government. My plans were defeat-
ed by this very clerk, who himself turned traitor and deserted

9
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me a few days afterwards, under circumstances which verified
Ponlyne’s suspicion of bad faith amongst my own Burmese fol-
lowers. The box of records of which he had charge remained in
my possession but on examining its contents, the Governor’s
letter to Ponlyne was nowhere visible. I have not the slightest
doubt that it was designedly removed or made away Wit-?l, and
it is not at all improbable that the desertion of the clerk was
prompted as the readiest means of depriving me of this letter,
and of avoiding on his part the responsibility of its loss. On
our return from Momein I learned for a certainty that this
same Burmese clerk, after he had deserted us at Ponsee, was
well received by the Governor of Bhamo and treated with
even kindness and familiarity. On reaching Mandalay he was
immediately taken into the King’s private employ and promo-
ted to the position of a Royal detective: a reward no doubt
for meritorious services whilst attached to the British Expedi-

tion!

120—(b). 'The probabilities are that he was in the pay
of the Burmese Government and had leagued himself against
us from the first. Such an admission suggests the ques-
tion “why were men of this stamp employed by the leader
of the expedition”? and I reply once for all, for the benefit of
those who may never have resided at an Asiatic or more
especially a Burmese Court, that no Burman subject in Upper
Burma dares to have a will of his own as opposed to that of
his Government. The indirect mode of reaching him offen-
sively for slights or offences, which the Government could not
possibly resent at the time of committal, are too numerous
and too certain, both as regards himself and probably also his
whole family, to obscure the consequences of E'ee andy indepen-
dent action as opposed to Government wishes or policy. His
training too from infancy has been so abject and servile that
Government bondage becomes a second nature, and marks
every man as an instrument to its own purposes either for

good or evil.

120—(c). Under these circumstances the fidelity to our
cause of any Burman dependent, who had once recognized
the position and contrary action of his own Government as
regarded ourselves, would have been much more a matter for
surprise and bewilderment than the natural play of infidelity
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to which his training, his instincts, and possibly his (supposed)
duties to his own Government must almost of necessity have
inclined him.

120—(d). 1t is this unseen power in the hands of the
Burmese Government that intensifies the difficulties of diplo-
matic contact, and gives it the vantage ground in all contests
which are not at once reducible by honest straightforward
plain speaking. A recourse to extraordinary argument or
diplomatic subtleties of expression is fatal; for then the un-
seen powers come in as aids and outnumber or overmatch all
honest opposition. A Burman diplomatist right or wrong
concedes only to fear. This will continue to be his distinguish-
ing characteristic ad infinitum or ad eternum!

e "The Saubwas take their leave, and we are some of us
" Diary contimuegy  Sullen, and perhaps a little dejected. Visions
14th March. of treachery and throat-cutting as designed by
Burman intrigue present themselves too palpably to certain
imaginations to produce a healthy or pleasant train of ideas
&e.&e.,

15TH MaARCH.

I have determined to despatch messengers to Momein,
and let the authorities there know the true state of our
present situation. My messengers are the men who ar-
rived lately from Momein and they are well provided
with money and presents, and may be expected to re-
turn in about ten days. In the meantime the position here
is one of disagreeable helplessness. I can neither advance
nor retreat without sacritgcing all our baggage. The Kak-
hyens have cut off the usual Rice supplies from Manwyne ;
and common necessaries are at a premium. The Ponlyne
" exults in having got me into a fix. T am obliged to put up
for a time with his taunts and extortion, but he knows my
mind,
| He became furious last evening hecause 1 told him that
we were not afraid of the murderous reports which predicted
our speedy annihilation. He is evidently disheartened as
well as discomfited at having failed to carry out with effect
the mercenary purposes which first drew him into our meshes
(or us into his) at Bhamo. He has been at times sanguine
and earnest in his professions but always lukewarm and re-
served in real action.
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I have now the use of his Burmese and Kakhyen inter-
preter Moung Mo. He is a Cheoung Zau or Tamon of Hen-
tha, a village on the Tahpen. The man wishes. to serve me
but is afraid at present to let it be openly known that he is
one of my employees. .

- Manhleo is a Shan Township beyond Manwyne. The
Poogen or Headman who is referred to by Ponlyne as our
greatest enemy is known to be a man of great influence and
authority in the Shan State of Sanda. About five years ago
he attacked a Panthay Caravan and committed indiscriminate
slavighter. The Panthays it is said have never been able to
retahate with effect. It is believed that the Poogen will not
be superior _to the attractions of presents and Rupees when
he once realizes the fact that we have come as friends and
that he has no real cause to regard us as enemies.

The fire question is at last settled. I bound myself to
abide "by.the Saray Saubwa’s decision ; and he has advised
me to pay 260 Rupees. This is not extortionate, but my
reasons for holding out were imperative. The claim had at
one time risen to 500. All parties are now satisfied,and it is
thoroughly understood that the onus of further dissatisfaction,
should any arise on this account, rests with the chiefs and not
with me.

Notwithstanding this settlement I am warned at 9 p. u,
both by Ponlyne and Saray to be on the alert during the
night and look out for an attack,as a number of malcontents are
known to have assembled and intend mischief,

The Saubwas declared that they had done all they could to
quell the unruly feelings of these obstreperous Kakhyens but
to no purpose. Finally they confess to having incited them
to action with taunts and encouragement of rather a negative
kind, which implied that they (the Saubwas) would look on
from a distance and see how many of the attacking party fell to
our Bullets and became victims to their own folly.

16tH MARCH.

1 did not neglect the Saubwa’s warning but we passed a
quiet night and are still unmolested.

Threats of injury and molestation used to be unplea-
sant at first, but they naturally lose much of their effect
as the various intimations of danger remain unfulfilled. The
only anxiety they cause now is the evidence of secret opposition
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and enmity, instead of hearty friendship and good will, which
would have been secured to us if freed from the trammels of
Burman interference.

The Saray Saubwa has asked me how many mules I re-
quire, and promises to secure 80 animals without loss of time.

Wrote and despatched letters to the Manhleo Poogen and
the Saubwa of Sanda. Enclosed also copies of Treaty with
Burma, along with other general information which may assist
in furthering our expeditionary prospects.

There is something suggestive in the fact that the Gover-
nor of Momein should have selected the IEmbassy or central
route as the one by which to expect and assist our
advance. This is the route by which all Political Mis-
sions to and from China have hitherto travelled, andit may
be almostinferred from this fact that the object of the Bur-
mese Officials at Bhamo,in denying us the Embassy route, was
purposely contrived as a means of ignoring our Embassa-
dorial character, and thereby detracting from the honorable
notice, which the mission might otherwise have profited by
in its travels beyond the Burmese Frontier.

One thing is pretty evident, and that is that to all
appearances we have been consigned to a route which is most
impracticable, and under Burman superintendence the most
inhospitable of all known routes in existence.

" Ponlyne has informed me this morning of his intention
toreturn forthwith to his own Saubwaship. He asked for
the balance of mule hire. I say that he has already
received Rupees 630 irrespective of 300 Rupees paid as
demurrage at Sitkaw. The engagement was that the
‘mule-men hired at Sitkaw were to convey me as far as Man-
wyne. They had deserted and forfeited any balance of mule
hire even supposing that such balance was a reality. The
amount already pald is in excess of the average rate of hire
between Sitkaw and Ponsee.

Nevertheless I tell the Saubwa that if he will make up
his accounts they shall be duly considered and attended to.
He left but returned shortly afterwards to say that all
advances already made on account of mule hire ought to be
regarded as subsistence only and not hire. An account was
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provided in which two hundred mules were charged for at
the rate of 20 Rupees per mule.

I could only laugh at this barefaced attempt at imposi-
tion. Ponlyne looked grave and had recourse once more to
the old system of intimidation (murder and stoppage of supplies.)
When this failed he got up in a huff and swore that he
would leave Ponsee instanter and consign us to certain
destruction.

The Saray Saubwa is accompanied by a Chinese In-
terpreter who speaks the Kakhyen language. He reads and
interprets my letters from Momein, and promises to be
generally useful, but having friends at” Bhamo he is not
at- present to be depended on. From his conversation and
remarks he evidently believes our Expedition is a Military
demonstration in favor of the Mussu{)man population of Yu-
nan as opposed to Chinese interests every where.

17TH MARCH.

Difficulties increase. - The Saubwas come early and pass
several- hours in small talk. The demand for old mule hire
has risen from 20 to 25 Rupees per head. The Saubwas
would be glad, they say, to come to any terms, but their
followers have cast an avaricious eye on our ¢ases, and would
hail with delight a crisis or collision which would give them
a pretext for the acquisition of loot.

I offer 500 Rupeesin addition to the hire already paid
if carriage is procured as far as Manwyne.

Chiefs.—You cannot go to Manwyne. The roads are
guarded by armed men who have been sent to oppose you.

Political Agent.—This is not true. My own messengers
travelled by this road a few days ago and saw no one.

Chiefs.—It is generally believed that you have got 16
Baskets of Rupees. :

Political Agent.—This is mere idle report. The Shan
Chiefs: will protect me against robbers in search of loot.

Chiefs,—They will have nothing to say to you.

Politrical Agent.—You are wrong again. The Momein
Authorities are already on my side. The %ahief of Manwyne is
anxious to receive me, but wishes first to consult with the
Chiefs of Sanda and Mynela.
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Chuefs.—True; but Lees-hee-ta-hee holds the passes at
Mauphoo. He has sent orders to the Sanda Chiefs and told
them on no account to let you pass. The Sanda Saubwa is

in doubt and cannot act without offending the Panthays or
Lees-hee-ta-hee. He'is afraid of both.

Political Agent.—I shall await the reply of my letters to
Sanda and Momein. The Panthays may %e induced to send
a guard to escort us through the passes at Mauphoo. I
shall not advance beyond Manwyne without the full consent
of all the Shan Chiefs. (The Chinese interpreter here
suggested that I should write to Lees-hee-ta-hee who could
be restrained to any extent in his conduct towards us by
a threat of retaliation on his mother, who was a Burman
and resided at Bhamo under the protection of the Burmese
Government. )

This is very true but we are not Burmans. There is no
doubt however that the Burmese Government, which considers
itself privileged to visit the sins of the Father or other male or
female relatives upon any number of present or succeeding
generations and to the remotest degree of consanguinity (if
necessary or rather expedient), has perfect control over Lees-
hee-ta-hee, and can mould him at will into any course of action
or inaction.

But whilst engaged in conversation alternately grave and
humorous, a shot was fired from a house in the village which
almost overhung our encampment, and whilst one bullet or
slug was heard to whiz over the tent we were sitting in,
another struck the head of a camp cot inside the tent. We
were surprised, but no one believed that the firing was in
earnest, until after the lapse of a few moments when a
second shot was fired, and this time also the bullet whizzed
close over the tent.

Ponlyne got up and vociferated like a madman. The -
Saray Chief was perplexed, but shewed no signs of alarm.
The state of his feelings may be presumed, however, from the
fact of his having informed me not five minutes after the fir-
ing that it was his intention to return forthwith to his own
dominions, and take leave for ever of Ponsee and its uncer-
tainties.
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The shots hurt nobody and were traced to nobody. It
is not improbable that Ponlyne may have innocently designed
them as an aid to his pecuniary negotiation. The ruse was
without effect. I promised to abide by my engagements
faithfully and even liberally, but it was now evident to all that
I would never submit to wrongful extortion.—+ Diaary ends.)

ReportT PARA: 121. But the inordinate length to which
this report is growing and the endless matter which has still
to be touched upon warn me that I must drop the diary sys-
tem for a time, and confine myself to a more concise form of
abridged narration. :

122. True to his word the Saray Chief left Ponsee on
the 18th, the day succeeding that on which the two shots had
been fired into our camp. His message to me on leaving was
that he would probably return as soon as I was relieved of
the Ponlyne incubus. It was impossible he said to come to
any fair settlement or make provision for our onward journey
g0 long as Ponlyne himself or his rapacious Pawmynes pos-
sessed any influence in the conduct of our affairs.

128. On the same afternoon it was announced to me
that Ponlyne too had left without any intimation of his inten-
tions, and had taken away with him the only man upon whom
I was dependent as an Interpreter in the Shan and Kakhyen
languages. He had further appropriated and carried off all
the presents which had been entrusted to him for delivery to
the officials at Manwyne and Manhleo.

124. A Ponlyne Pawmyne who remained behind assured
me the next day that the Ponlyne and Ponsee Chiefs had quar-
relled violently, and that the latter had used threats which were
dangerous and unmistakeable to Kakhyen comprehensions.
Poxﬁyne had therefore deemed it prudent to beat a retreat and
seek ease and safety within his own territory.

125. It was now time for the Ponsee Saubwa to come -
to the front and explain the new state of affairs which had
deprived us of Ponlyne’s aid, and made him (Ponsee) Chief
Arbiter in our (exploration) destinies. Ponlyne had not only
robbed me he said; but had interfered moreover with the
rights of all concerned, by appropriating to his own purposes,
the several advances -which had been made on account of
mule hire, as well as presents which were intended for general
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distribution. Before his departure he had suggested and
made arrangements that our supplies of provisions from Man:

e shoulg be stopped ; and that the Kakhyens of the neigh-
bourhood should cease te hold any kind of communication
with us. '

126. The Ponlyne has been actuated throughout by an
inordinate greed for Rupees. Awarice is his ruling passion.
He had occasionally rendered valuable service, in the certainty
(as he thought,) of securing an exorbitant recompense. But
beyond this, there has never been any real sincerity in his
feelings or actions. His object was to bleed me as effectually
as he could; then throw me over at all risks and fall back on
the Burmese officials at Bhamo, whose friendship could easily
have been regained if only he could shew that we had been
reduced to a state of inextricable difficulty.

127. But with all his avarice I feel positively convinced
that, had Ponlyne been quite free from the ties or the fears of
Burmese influences, he would have aided us to the last; not
without haggling and extortion, but in a spirit which would
have been above cowardly meanness and treacherous desertion.

128. Several days passed in the consideration of a
variety of Plans, by which the Saray and Ponsee Saubwas
had mutually engaged to afford us aid in pushing on towards
our destination. The Saray Saubwa had made his appear-
ance again on 21st March and brought letters addressed to
himself and other Kakhyen Chiefs from the Governor of
Momein, who solicited assistance in our cause and guaranteed
to pay the expenses ofour journey. -Our prospects brightened.
The chances of an onward move seemed in a fair way of bein
realized as the Saray Chief, under Panthay persuasion, had
himself agreed to become our escort, and to provide the neces-
sary requirements in porters and mule carriage. A set-
tlement had been come to, as regarded mule hire past and
- present, and the Chief left Ponsee for Saray under promise
to return in two days, and conduct us onward in triumph
Manwyne. _ :

129. It was unfortunate, however, that, he should at -
this particular time have despatched his Chinese Interpreter
to Bhamo, under a plea of effecting a settlement of accounts
between himself and some Chinese merchants of that place.

10
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His real object was to learn the true state of affairs at Bhamo,
and realize the consequences for good or evil, in which he
might be involving himself by aiding an expedition which was
being undertaken, to all appearances, in direct opposition to the
wishes of the Burmese Government. The proofs which I
was able to produce, in the King of Burma’s written procla-
mation, and the letters* given to me by the Burmese Govern-
ment previous to my departure from Mandalay, were as waste
paper compared with facts as disclosed by Burmese officials
themselves in our immediate neighbourhood. A hitch had cer-
tainly occurred somewhere, for the Saray Chief not only failed
in his agreement to return to us with mule carriage in two days,
but had not made any appearance himself or explained his
absence or intentions up to the 29th March.

130. Early on the morning of that day it was known
in our camp that two Chinamen from Bhamo, with a party of
armed Burmese Soldiers, had passed through Ponsee and were
making their way to Saray, distant only four miles from our
own encampment. On the same evening the Saray Saubwa’s
Chinesc writer arrived, and informed me, with well feigned
regret, that his master was deeply concerned at having to
state that he could no longer be bound to his agreement
of providing carriage for our onward journey.

131. The Saray Chief appeared himself the next morning
(30th), and assured me that with all the best intentions in the
world he was precluded from serving us, in consequence
of a dispute with the Ponsee Saubwa, who had quarrelled with
him in particular, and threatened destruction to any neigh-

*The Burmese Government had given me two letters addressed in the name of
Governor of Bhamo to the Panthay or Chinese authorities whom we might meet
with during our exploration into Yunan. I did not make use of these letters beyond
transmitting a copy of one of them from Bhamo to Momein, because I discovered,
only when it was too late for remedy, that the letters merely purported to be sent
by a Provincial Governor, instead of being addressed in the name of the Burmese
Government. I do not think that it was ever the intention of the Government that
we should proceed tar enough to make personal delivery of either letter, neither did
it calculate upon the probability of my forwarding on copies of the letters to pave
the way to our own introduction and arrival within Panthay territory. 1 have else-
where been led to express an opinion that the arrival of this letter"at Momein jafford-
ed evidence of Burmese co-operation and incited the Panthays to the attack on
Mauphoo. I now further incline to the belief that the secret mission from Mandalay
to Yunan, which could not have been despatched till late in April, was intended, in one
material respect, to counteract the use I had made of the Burmese letters and explain,
as far as we were concerned, the mysterious working of Burmese State Policy.
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bouring Chiefs who either interfered with us whilst in his
territory or helped us to quit our encampment at Ponsee.

It was in vain that I proved to him that the Ponsee
Saubwa had been working with him throughout, and that the
agreement to provide mules had been shared in by Ponsee
as well as by himself. Expostulation was useless. I recog-
nized the Chief’s difficulties, and he nodded an assent when
I attributed them to private messages and secret instructions
which had been sent to him from Bhamo.

132. But if the advent of these messages had been pro-
ductive of difficulties in alienating the offices or the good will
of the Saray chief, a much more serious evil threatened us, in
the arrival of a party of fifty (50) armed Burmans under a
Tsayay-daugyee (secretary) from Bhamo; who had been des-
patched, it was said, with the ostensible object of working certain
silver mines on the part of the Burmese Government.

These far famed silver mines had been worked at fitful in-
tervals for several generations past by Shans, Burmans and
Chinese alike,until finally abandoned some years since when the
precious ore had become exhausted beyond all hope of remun-
erative production.

133. Was ita mere coincidence that the Burmese Govern-
ment, after so long an interval of tardy inaction, should have
now sent an a,rmef party of fifty mento renew mining operations
at Ponsee, at the precise time of our own unfortunate detention
within Ponsee bondage? From the time of its arrival the
Tsayay-daugyee in charge never came himself or allowed any
of bis party to visit me. Everything was done to convince the
Kakhyen mind that Burman and British interests conflicted,
and that the party was hostile to us both in purpose and
interests.

- On one occasion proof was afforded of a bribe having been
given by the Burmese Secretary to certain Kakhyens to induce
them to steal and carry off our ponies.

Parties of three and four of the armed party were constant-
ly being despatched into the Shan States with damnatory re-
ports of our mission and intentions. The Tsayay-daugyee
terrified the only Kakhyen interpreter we had with threats
of Burman vengeance; and when other means failed to deprive
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me of hig services he wrote to the Governor of Bhamo and
framed charges which resulted in the imprisonment of the
interpreter’s wife (as security for the interpreter himself ), pen-
ding his absence in the service of the expgsition.

134. And what became of the silver mines ? The whole
projectmay justly be censured as a mere flimsy contrivance,under
cover of which it was intended to watch our action at Ponsee,
and defeat by an overwhelming preponderance every honest
endeavour to force our exit and our interests beyond the limits
of our Kakhyen encampment.

135. Their success was certain, had we not anticipated
them by securing the support of the Panthay Government.

It only remains to be told that the mining or undermi-
ning operations of this shallow confederation naturally ceased
with our own departure from Ponsee. Left as it was, without
purpose or resources, the party return baffled and disheartened
to Bhamo, to recount there the history of its own failures and
the marvel (as it must certainly have appeared to them) of
our Success. '

_.-~~"136. But the expedition is still at Ponsee. = I must
2=~ goback to the first week in April. The Saray Saubwa had
’ left us in consequence of an alleged quarrel with the Ponsee
Saubwa, who is said to have threatened the former with a
lifelong enmity if he assisted usto leave his jurisdiction and
Saubwaship. The Ponsee Saubwa had been our friend for one
short'week, or from the time the Ponlyne Chief left us until
the arrival of the Burmese armed mining party at Ponsee.
He was now our avowed enemy, and had openly conspired
with neighbouring Chiefs and invited them to attend his sacri-
ficial offerings to the minor deities, whose propitiation was a
preparatory measure only to our own intended 1mmolation.

137. The Saray Saubwa himself brought this fact to
my notice and dwelt upon it in his own defence as evidence
of the hostility which threatened not only ourselves but all
who aided or befriended our cause. I told the Chief that he
as well asthe Chiefs of Ponlyne and Ponsee had guaranteed
me safe conduct as far as Manwyne, that if evil befel the ex-
pedition the probabilities were that force would be despatched
from Mandalay to afford assistance and seek redress. The
old chief replied with a smile. “ You will get no assistance
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“ from Burmans; they have repeatedly sent to tell me that you
“are not to go on. If you persist we have been advised to
“make away with you in any way we please, and the reward
“offered is the appropriation of your property.”

138. It will be remembered that the Ponlyne Chief on a
former occasion spoke much in the same terms of the Burman
influences by which he and other Kakhyen Chiefs had been
instigated and even ordered to assume a state of enmity to-
wards us. It is important and perhaps instructive to mark the
course of that enmity, as instanced in the case of the Ponsee
Chief’s sudden hostile demonstration.

139. Somedays hadpassed in assembling Chiefs and ma-
turing means for an effectual onslought. The sacrificial buffaloe
had been slaughtered and the usual revel was being kept up in
a manner dear to Kakhyens as longas theyare assured of a plen-
tiful supply of Beef and Shamshoo. The night of the revel was
no secret and we were well prepared for eventualities. Only
two Chiefs of any note had joined Ponsee. Ilis principal Paw-
mynes held aloof and rejected the conventional pound of flesh
which had been sent to invite their attendance at the domestic
festival. The Pawmynes had already signified to me their
dissent from the Saubwa, and stigmatized his conduct as that of
a madman and his actions as dangerous and beyond all control.

140. I assured them of passive resistance only on our
part as long as the Saubwa confined himself to threats and de-
monstrations. If, however, an actual attack was made upon our
position I should assume the offensive and the consequences.
might be disastrous.

Itwas necessary to deal somewhat in mysteries. A month’s:
residence at Ponsee had caused our fame to be noised abroad
as a people whose knowledge and powers exceded even that.
of Demons and Deities. Breach loading Rifles, Adam’s and
Colts Revolvers, Photographic a%)paratus, Bryant and May’s
Patent Vestas, which “1gnite only on the box” and defy both
wind and rain, had all helped to create and maintain a practica-
ble belief in our connectionship with supernatural agencies. .

141. On the day of the expected attack the Police escort
had been drawn up under arms, and the opportunity was taken
of entertaining our friends for the first time to the sound of a
volley. - The firing was good and the effect salutary and imme-
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diate. The Pawmynes were alarmed and prayed that their
houses might not be included in the general destruction which
now seemed to await all who were foolish enough to belong to
the number of our enemies. I simply referred them to their
own Chief, who was the immediate cause of present misunder-
standing. Myown strong desire, I said,wastoliveon friendly and
peaceable terms with all ; but even Kakhyens must not expect
that any number of Englishmen would ever quietly submit to
an attack which threatened them with annihilation, without
some effort to save themselves and retaliate on those who had
forced them into hostility.

142. But Ponsec now had come to his senses. The morn-
ing’s volley had penetrated the sceneof his convivial rioting,and
the pugnacious confederates cooled downvery considerably un-
der a formal introduction to fifty muskets which would all go off"
It was soon hinted tome, as a preliminary to reconciliation,
that the Natshad looked with disfavor on the Saubwa’s inten-
tions and failed to give him any encouragement in his evil de-
signs against the expedition. (This was only to be expected
as the Meetway or Nat-oracle was my friend and n my pay.)

My Pawmyne friends next intimated that they had come
to terms with the refractory Saubwas, who were now anxious
to be introduced to me and secure our friendship. This meant
that I was expected to receive and give presentsto the men
who for a week past had been sitting in council against us and
plotting our destruction.

143. Nevertheless I was prepared to secure peace for the
present, at any cost,and pave the way to a better understanding
for the future. It was difficult, however, to restrain a burst of
either indignation or laughter when the Chiefs presented them-
selves, and I was openly asked to pay a money indemnity to
which the Ponsee Saubwa had become liable for having cut
down a Shan petty trader who had committed the crime of
bringing supplies to our encampment !

Thus I was not only to receive with open arms those who
had an hour before been conspiring against our lives,but to pay
a heavy ransom for actsof hostility committed against ourselves,
and which threatened, as they did, the very means of our exis-
tence !
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Still there was nothing extraordinary in all this to the
people we were dealing with. They could not be elevated in a
day to a just appreciation of our principles, either in punishing
crime or rewardingvirtue. Nor when I exceeded even the limits
of Christian charity, and submitted to the necessity or in-
clination of doing good to our revilers, did I calculate upon de-
veloping all at once in the Kakhyen intellect a proper apprecia-
tion of its own folly or of our magnanimity. The Chiefs tendered
their friendship and received ours—and presents into the bar-
gain. Their minds may not have grasped the soundness of a
moral code which enjoins us to love our enemies and do good
to those who despitefully use us, but certainly were not back-
ward in seeking immediate application of the principle in
their own case, and profiting by 1t, it may be hoped, in their
future estimation of Christian friendship and British- concilia-
tion.

144. They left rejoicing; but the Ponsee chief sat silent
and sheepish. Much had been urged on his account or in ex-
tenuation of his hostility towards us, because that hostility is
said to have taken its rise in anger at my supposed neglect of
him on the one hand and Ponlyne’s rapacity on the other. But
strange to say this animosity did not manifest itself in any
very dangerous form until after the departure of Ponlyne; and
until the arrival of the armed Burmese party from Bhamo. One
of the buffaloes which was offered up as a propitiation for sins
or as an enticement to the Gods to favor the means of our des-
truction was provided by this Burman party; and the official
in charge, understanding well the purport of such a gift, had ac-
cepted the pound of flesh which was to bind his interests against
us and array them on the side of the refractory Saubwa.

145. The demonstration had failed: we were masters of
the position and the significance of this superiority was the more
valuable because it rested on the acknowledgments of the Hill
tribes that we lived under the auspices and protection of their
own presiding Deities. Another source of satisfaction
was that a reconciliation had been come to between the
Chief and his Pawmynes. The latter had sided with me through-
out, and it was at their instigation on a renewal of friendship
that I was induced to pay Ponsee 100 Rs. to make up in some
respects for our own supposed neglect and the loss sustained by
Ponlyne’s misappropriations.
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146. The Saubwa in swearing friendship vowed that he
had always regarded us as his friends and relations.

“Save me from my friends” I exclaimed laughingly «if
“ connectionship with them is supposed to carry with it the pri-
“ vilege of being assassinated at will to suit the love or the ca-
¢ pricesoftheSaubwa’s relatives!” The Saubwa grinned uncom-
fortably. I tried his temper still further by asking why he had
omitted his new relations in the late distribution of Beef at
Ponsee? He understood the allusion and left somewhat
awkwardly but in good humour.

147. During the first few days of April matters were
hopeful and exciting. The great drawback was that the
Saubwa and Pawmynes had been reconciled only as regards
conventionalities, but their interests jarred at once as soon as
any reference was made to the affairs of the expedition or the
means required for our further progress. On both sides there
was an over zealous desire to be of service. The Pawmynes
were willing to supply porters in any abundance. The
Saubwa volunteered to go and procure mules. The object of
either party was to secure to itself the whole, or as large a
roportion as possible, of our valuable baggage. Privately the
IS)a\ubwa. advised me to have no dealings with the Pawmynes
and described their intentions as evil and dishonest. To his
face and to mine the Pawmynes accused the Saubwa of enter-
taining a design against our property. Each frustrated the
other in any attempt to be useful. Their united or rather
disunited friendship was thus rendered as unprofitable and
futile as their joint enmity. I had paid 100 Rupees for a
mere outward show of reconciliation which seemed only to
have widened the breach of their greedy disunion.

148, Early on the morning of 6th (April) the Paw-
mynes brought a small erowd of Kakhyen coolies and asked
for our boxes. I was ready to move I said but not without
a previous understanding.

1. The Saubwa must be a consenting party to our
proceeding.

2. The Pawmynes must convince me that they had
sufficient men to carry the whole of our baggage at one time,

Google



[ 1]

On the first point the Pawmynes said that the Saubwa
was a nonentity and need not be consulted. On the 2nd
that though the coolies were not all then present they would
come in gradually in sufficient numbers to make the start
that day. “Let them come I said and we will make arrange-
ments for an immediate move.” But they did not come.
Overtures however were made to the Saubwa during the after-
noon, and a temporary reconciliation was agreed to on the
understanding that the Saubwa and his party should be privi-
leged to carry forty mule-loads of our baggage.

149, The events of 7th April must be taken from my
rough Journal of that date.

“This has been an eventful day. In promise big, in
effect an abortion. Up at daylight. Tents struck and bag-
gage arranged for an early start. The Saubwa and Pawmynes
appear by turns but the coolies only begin to assemble at
8 A. M. The parties are still at logger-heads about the appro-
priation of baggage. Time and patience reduce matters to
something like orger, but there is still a strong party spirit at
work. The opposite factions regard each other as implacable
foes, both being intent only on loot and each vying with
each other for the lion’s share. The existence of dishonest
intent is palpable in the barefaced rivalry which is displayed
by either party in seizing upon the most promising packages,
regardless of their weight or size. My small japanned tin
cases bring on a crisis. The Saubwa's men have secured
them and “ Death’s-Head” Pawmyne is in a fury of madness
and drink. I have told off the escort into detached parties,
to prevent the exit from camp of any baggage until all is in
readiness for a start. The small circumference of our encamp-
ment is filled with armed Kakhyens. They are our porters
and friends. It would be awkward in this scene of confusion
if they turned out to be enemies! . The Pawmyne seizes my
gold dah which is in the hands of a Burman. Williams 1s

standing near and wrenches it from both with a twist which
was irresistible.

Pawmyne is at bay for an instant but rushes away
excitedly and -suddenly reappears with his slow match in a
blaze. He advances to within three paces of me and is prim-
ing his piece preparatory to fire. Before I .could move he

11
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had fired it into the air with a loud report. There is conster-
nation for a moment but noimmediate movement. All would
have been quiet again but unfortunately an assistant surveyor
with our party carried a Revolver, and fired it off in the
air with -unmeaning effort. Again tumult and confusion.
The Kakhyens shew that they have no fight in them and fly
in all directions as if panic stricken. There is no movement
on our side, The Saubwa too is quiet and behaves with a
just appreciation of events. He calls upon the Kakhyens not
to fly, and at the same time makes us understand by word
and gesture that the Pawmyne’s anger has no reference to
ourselves but is directed against him. Order is restored after
a time and the coolies return to their respective loads,

I had taken the precaution of telling off the escort for
the march in such a way that when the start was made each
set of coolies would be under surveillance, with a chain of
communication between the advance and rear guards. The
japanned tin cases, or rather the coolies who were to carry
them, were placed under the immediate supervision of armed
followers and could not bolt without creating an alarm.

The precautions were disagreeable to both factions, and
rather confounded their schemes of bolting with our baggage
under the disguise of porters. Time wore on. It was noon.
"The coolies had arranged their loads and a start might even
then have been made when it suddenly occurred to the Chiefs
.that being late that day we had better remain where we
were and make an early start on the morrow.

This proposition was irresistible .because it had come
from' the Saubwa and Pawmynes, whose disinclination to
move without solid advantages to themselves or when they
saw that their plans for wholesale robbery had been to
some extent frustrated was an argument per se which it
would have been in vain to oppose. I was therefore bound
into acquiescence—a grievous disappointment to say the least
of it, after six hours exposure to a hot sun and a month’s
captivity at Ponsee. Shall we start tomorrow ?

~ Thatis the question and a very doubtful one too if we
are allowed to judge by this morning’s experiences of Ka-
khyen treachery and caprice &c, &c. &c.” - '
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150. Wedid not leave! The morning of the 8th was
ushered in by a demand for money. Up till 9 4. M. nota
cooly had presented himself in camp, at half past nine the Paw-
mynes appeared and informed me that as the Saubwa had
withdrawn his support they could not assist me single-handed.
I must consider their promise to forward me on to Manwyne
as already at an end. Shortly afterwards the Saubwa came in
person and laid the onus of our false start on the Pawmynes,
who he again accused and condemned as men who were intent
only on robbery and imposition.

151. 1 soon discovered the real source. of mischief and
miscarriage in the presence of the Nanlyaw Tamon, who had
already held a conspicuous place in our Burmese experiences.
The last trip he made to Ponsee had been undertaken with
the express object of inducing the Ponlyne and Ponsee Sau-
bwas to desert us on the Hills and return with him to Bhamo.
His influence and advice had now been enlisted on the side of
the Burmese armed party of miners at Ponsee; and having
been successful on his former mission it is only reasonable to
suppose that he would again be armed with authority to
negotiate with the Chiefs and assist them to the utmost in our

further discomfiture. He can hardly have been instrumsntal

in the ‘abortion’ of 7th April; but I attribute our disappoint-
ment on the succeeding day to secret influences of which he
(the Tamon) had become by tuition and intuition a most
inflexible agent and promoter.

152. Happening to meet the man in our camp on
‘the 8th I caused him to be arrested, and would henceforth have
detained him as a spy and a prisoner ; but the Pawmynes, with
whom he was on particularly intimate terms, interceded so
forcibly in his behalf that I was obliged to concede to their
scruples rather than be subjected to 1nterminable dispute or
additional misunderstanding. The Tamon was dismissed with
a warning not to cross our path again, and I have never seen
or heard of him since.

153. At this juncture, or rather on 9th April, letters
reached me from Momein, and I was informed therein that
Tah-sa-kon, the Governor of that place, had taken the field in
person and had resolved upon the extermination of Lees-hee-ta-
hee who then held the passeés and heights of Mauphoo, situa-
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ted balf way between the Shan State of Mynela on the one
side and the Chinese or rather Panthay town of Nantia on the
other. This Mauphoo had been a place of considerable note
during those days of commercial prosperity when, as the peo-
ple themselves describe. * Trade flourished to such an extent
that the caravan fires at the successive halting stations were
never extinguished. ”

154. Itis just matter for surprise that the Panthay
Government had so long submitted to allow this stronghold,
commanding as it did the high road botween the Shan States
and Momein, to remain in the occupation of a robber chief-
tain who utilized it indirectly in the cause of Burma, partly
because it served as a- buffer to the Panthays by closing the
direct means of inroad to Bhamo, and partly on account of
the convenient means it opened out to himself for safe retreat
and successful Brigandage.

155, Lees-hee-ta-hee may have often been disturbed in
his possessions at Mauphoo ; but on no former occasion had
the Governor of Momein so deliberately determined on secu-
ring his downfall. It had now been made apparent to him
that Foreign interests were at stake, and his assistance was in-
voked in the cause of an expedition which promised once more
to put the Province of Yunan into commerical intercourse
with the old trading mart on the Irrawaddy at Bhamo. The
letters which brought the intelligence of Tah-sa-kou’s intended
attack on Lees-hee-ta-hee warned me further not to advance be-
yond Ponsee, until further advices had reached us of a settle-
ment of affairs at Mauphoo. Their arrival raised me at once
to a position of superiority, from which advice and admonition
could be the more readily exercised in still temporizing with
our Kakhyen associates and rousing them betimes into active
adherence.

156. On'one point in particular it had become a vital
consideration to give vent to firm and decided plain speaking.
Kakhyens, Burmese and Shans alike had conceived extrava-
gant ideas as to the value of our baggage; and frequently
suggested by their behaviour and speech that the hope of
some day making it their own was one of the indirect induce-
ments which aided in our detention on the Ponsee Hills.
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I began therefore at this time to proclaim on all sides
that though we had cheerfully submitted to privations and de-
lay in conciliating the Hill tribes and ingratiating ourselves
into their favour and good will, they were not to suppose that
this state of long suffering would continue for ever ; or that
we would patiently endure perpetual isolation. * Extremis
malis extrema remedia.” I told them that any extremities to
which we might be reduced would not involve an abandon-
ment of our baggage ; for I did not intend that there should
be anything left to abandon. All that we could not take away
with us for want of carriage would be piled up en masse to set
fire to, and blaze forth in flames the cause of our departure. If
to their own disappointment in loosing this supposed source of
wealth they added the probabilities of future demands in com-
pensation for losses sustained at their hands or through their
neglect, they would find small cause, I said, for after triumpk in
having alienated those who now had desired above all things
to be considered tleir friends. ‘

157. It will of course be understood that in making
known to the Kakhyens the determination to destroy our
property rather than allow it to fall into their own avaricious
and unworthy possesion I had not desired to exhibit in myself or
to illustrate to their detrimeat a Dog-in-the-manger principle,
-which would have been no less degrading to British character
and civilization than ruinous perhaps to our safety and future
interests, The Chief comprehended and believed what was
said and I thought then, as I think now, that the practical
removal from their minds of one grave temptation to err was
a subject for general satisfaction, as it contributed in no
small degree to generate in them, and probably also in our-
selves, the elements of future confidence and mutual under-
standing.

158. The burden of their reply was as follows :—

“ Do not altogether blame us (Kakhyens) for your mis-
¢ fortunes ; we have always been in doubt how to act towards
“ you on account of the many warnings we have received to
¢ withold assistance and oppose your progress. Now we
“ know you ; and will no longer attend to bad advice. You
“ have been always kind to us and are a powerful people, only
“ give us Rupees and we will procure carriage at once.”
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The gist of the speech is in the Rupees. Mules we did not
then require, since our instructions from Momien negatived an
advance until further advices.

On the whole the position, though surrounded by uncer-
tainties, was nevertheless more hopeful and promising than it
had hitherto been since our arrival at Ponsee.

There was a satisfaction in feeling that Burmese strata-
gem was so far on the decline as to force Kakhyens into an
acknowledgement of our superiority and a tacit dependence on

owers which could neither be trifled with with impunity or
affronted without retaliation.

_ 159. The determination to make a boa fire of our prop-
erty and then seek reprisals at some future date when the
expedition had returned to recount the history of its losses
to its own Government, was a spec on the political horizon
which even to Kakhyen comprehensions contained the ele-
ments of interminable enmity. On the other hand they could
not help perceiving that under just treatment we were harm-
less as friends, and promised in our future intercourse as pio-
neers of trade to open up to them old sources of wealth and
prosperity. Added to this the uniform kindness with which
we requited all just services were valuable recommendations
in themselves, and contrasted in a marked manner with the
treatment to which they had hitherto been subjected in their
dealings with other races.

It is not to be wondered at then that the delay at Pon-
see has been productive of at least one great advantage, in
having worked out for us an ascendancy in the Kakhyen mind,
the importance of which will be manifested in time to come
by the facilities of future action and intercourse in the same
rich field of civilizing enterprise.

160. Nearly six weeks had elapsed since the desertion
of my Chinese interpreter Moung Shwd Yah at Ponlyne. The
manner of his flight, without cause or warning, at a time too
when his services were of the utmost urgency tothe well be-
ing of the expedition, was dastardly and inexcusable. Now in
the middle of April I am all at once made aware of Moung
Shwe Yah’s whereabouts, and received a written explanation
of the causes which are said to have necessitated his flight
from Ponlyne. These may or may not be true and conststent
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in themselves, but the sources hom which my" information
comes are so divergent in themselves and at the same time
mysteriously coincident as to invite special reference and ex-
amination.

, 161. On the evening of the 10th April, two Kakhyens
arrived in camp, with letters which purported to.have been
written by Shwé Yah himself, from some halting place on
his journey through the Shan’ states. The Kakhyens could
give no consistent account of themselves, and contradicted each
other in trifling matters of detail, without being able to state
how long the letters had been in their possession, or from
whom they had been received.

"162. The next morning one of the Burmese armed min-
ing Party stationed at Ponsee, brought me a letter from
Moung Shwé Yah, which he said had been given to him 14
days before, at the house of the Kakhyen Saubwa of Suddan ;
but instead of bringing me the letter, he had taken it to Bha-
mo by mistake, and only now remembered that it was in his
possession, and that it would be as well to deliver it.

The flight of Moung Shwe-Yah, serious as it was at the
time, had long since lapsed into comparative insignificance, and
for five weeks or more he was a thing of the past and deserv-
edly forgotten. Now, however, for a whole day previous to
the delivery of his letters, Mouno Shwe Yah was in every
one’s mouth ; and the subject of his desertion and whereabouts
was forced upon me, usque ad nauseam, by my Burmese
followers, who had private friends amono'st the Burmese
armed mining party from Bhamo.

These reports I afterwards ascertained reached me under
special Burmese instigation, and it was Burmese stratagem
which planned that I “should receive on the same date letters
from Moung Shweé Yah himself, written on different dates
from widely distant destinations and brought by directly
opposite routes.

163. My solution of the affair is as follows:—

Moung Shwe¢ Yah, after his shameful desertion at Pon-
see, either returned direct to Mandalay to report progress or
made his reports at Bhamo aud awaited further orders from
Mandalay. The King could not have heard with indifference -
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that his own special Deputy with the expedition should have
bchaved towards us in a way which would compromise himself
and lead to complications with his Government. Moung Shwd
Yah too would have naturally heard, during his five weeks
stay at Bhamo, that a diversion had been made in our favour
by the Governor of Momein, and would be led to believe in
the probabilities of our successful advance into Chiny without
Burman aid or in spite of Burman interference. The same
reports would have reached Mandalay and have given rise to
similar apprehensions. Hence I conceive arose the necessity
of despatching stringent orders to correct so glaring an abuse,
and remedy past defaults by a mock show of zeal and a super-
abundance of courteous deception.

164. Moung Shwe Yah had evidently only just started
for Momein when the two letters reached me, and their arrival
through a Burman source is accounted for by a sudden and
excessive desire on the part of the Officials to carry out their
master’s instructions, and save his reputation by making it ap-
pear that Moung Shw& Yah had never wavered in his service
to the expedition.

The clumsiness of this contrivance placesit on a par of appar-

ency with other shallow expedients of a similar kind, whenever

atchwork is resorted to as a means covering and concealing an
old and dirty piece of jobbery and wrong-doing.

165. On the 11th of April the Choung Zan Moung Mo,
whom I had formerly used as a Kakhyen interpreter but was
treacherously carried off by the Ponlyne Saubwa on the 18th
of the preceding month, returned from Bhamo and offered me
his services. 1 had formerly held out to Moung Mo every
inducement in my power to make him disregard mere
Burmese threats, and he had at length agreed to attach him-
self to the British expedition, if I would afford protection_
against the Burman Officer then in charge of the mining party
at Ponsee: Moung-Mo pleaded that he had ceased to have
any Official connectionship with the Burmese armed party
or with the Government, and that his services were at my
disposal for any appointment to which I might choose to
appropriate them.

166. I have already said that Moung Mo was one of
the village headmen who had been specially made over to me
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by the Governor of Bhamo as Shanand Kakhyen interpreter
to the expedition ; and I had every right to claim his services
from the date of our departure from Bhamo. But the Gov-
ernor proved insincere in his promises ; and Moung Mo only
at length joined me under private pecuniary inducements, and
after he had freed himself from Official restraints by breaking
oft all former or/mectionship with the Burmese Govern-
ment. " fede a7, af; :

Hig disinterested account of affairs at Bhamo at the time
he joined me may be briefly recorded as illustrative of much
that has already been said in describing the peculiarities of
our present position on the Kakhyen Hills. ‘

B f') - .

A. Orders have been received from Mandalay concern-
 Moung Mo ing the expedition. The officials are directed to be
loguicur. careful in their obstructiveness and not to allow
the Royal ears to be ashamed by reports of shallow half meas-
ures. The King was displeased with the complaints which
reached him of our detention at this place. The Ponlyne Sau-
bwa has been written to and told that he may take you as far
as Manwyne in accordance with his originﬂ%greement. His
reply was that he would willingly have carried out his engage-
ments from the first had he not been tampered with by Bur-
mese Officials, and ordered to abandon the expedition almost
before the journey had commenced. Having been led there-
by to compromise himself with you he now positively refused to
attend futher to the Governor’s orders or to conduct the ex-
pedition on its journey to Manwyne.

- B. The Governor was suprised and enraged at hearing
that you had been able to despatch letters from Bhamo to
Momein without the knowledge of any of his subordinate
officials. ’

He threatened them with dismissal from Office as soon
as the necessary reports could be made to Mandalay.

- C. The idea of working the Silver mines was a sham
from the commencement. The party came to Ponsee with
50 men and already orders have been given not to continue
the work. The object of that party is to. watch your
proceedings, and prevent your progress by disseminating evil
reports of your intentions. The Kakhyensare afraid to assist
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so long as they see amongst them an armed party of Burmans
with orders not to allow you to enter the Shan States.

.. D. Donot. go on to Manwyne until you hear again
from .the Pa.ntha.yg Governor at Momein or):mtil theyag"rlld
to meet you. I hearall that goes on and I know that Lees-
hee-ta-hee has sworn to oppose you if you attempt to cross
into the Shan States. Not one of your party is to be left
alive. Depend on what I say and mind do not {eave, although
!;h;]fia.khyens agree to conduct you, until you are assured all
is safe. ~

E. Numbers of Shans and Burmese are anxious to
accompany you as interpreters or in any other capacity, but
they are afraid to do so. The Officials know that if they can
prevent you getting an interpreter your position is compara-
tively a helpless and dependent one. Their object is to add
to your difficultiesin the hope of making them insurmountable,

F. When you sent a packet of letters a few days ago
to be forwarded to Bhamo the Sayay dawgyee would not
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